From DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE (SOLNA) Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

TELOMERASE IN HEMATOLOGICAL AND OTHER MALIGNANCIES: THERAPEUTIC IMPLICATIONS

Bingnan Li

李炳男



Stockholm 2015

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Karolinska Institutet © Bingnan Li, 2015 ISBN 978-91-7676-136-6 Printed by Eprint AB 2015

Telomerase in hematological and other malignancies: Therapeutic implications

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Bingnan Li

Principal Supervisor: Dawei Xu Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine (Solna) Division of Hematology

Co-supervisor: Magnus Björkholm Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine (Solna) Division of Hematology *Opponent:* Professor Richard Rosenquist Brandell Uppsala University Department of Immunology Division of Genetics and Pathology

Examination Board: Docent Rula Zain-Luqman Karolinska Institutet Department of Laboratory Medicine

Professor Ann Nordgren Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Genetics

Professor Sören Lehmann Uppsala University Department of Medical Sciences

ABSTRACT

The Telomere is a nucleoprotein complex consisting of TTAGGG repeated sequences covered by specialized binding proteins termed shelterins masking the end of linear chromosomes and thereby protecting the end of the chromosome from genomic instability. Telomeres become progressively shortened during cellular replication and acts as a mitotic clock to confer a limited lifespan to normal cells. Telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) is responsible for lengthening telomeric DNA. The enzyme is silent in most normal cells due to the transcriptional repression of the *TERT* gene encoding the telomerase catalytic component. Numerous studies have demonstrated that the induction of TERT and subsequent activation of telomerase is prerequisite to malignant transformation of human cells through a telomere-lengthening mechanism. Moreover, evidence has recently shown that TERT or telomerase possesses many other biological activities contributing to tumor development and progression, therefore targeting TERT/telomerase has been suggested as a novel anti-cancer strategy. In the present project we studied telomere-lengthening-dependent and independent activities of TERT in malignant cells and explored therapeutic implications of TERT inhibition combined with other anti-cancer strategies in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and gastric cancer.

Paper I is focused on whether TERT inhibition and telomere dysfunction is involved in the anti- tumor effect of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitor 5-azacytidine (5-AZA). We demonstrated that 5-AZA induced DNA damage and telomere dysfunction in AML cell lines coupled with diminished TERT expression, telomere attrition and cellular apoptosis. The results suggests that 5-AZA-mediated TERT inhibition and telomere dysfunction contributes to its anti-cancer activity.

Paper II was aimed to define the relationship between the oncogenic cyclooxygenase (COX2) and TERT and to evaluate the synergetic anti-cancer action of simultaneous COX2 and TERT inhibition. We found that the depletion of TERT led to elevated COX2 expression by activating p38. The COX2 inhibitor celecoxib or TERT inhibition alone was insufficient to affect cell viability, however, the combination synergistically killed cancer cells both in vitro and in vivo. Thus, the combined application of COX2 and telomerase inhibitors may be more efficient in cancer treatment.

About 30% of AML patients exhibit somatic mutations of FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3), the majority of which carry internal tandem duplication (ITD) in the juxtamembrane. FLT3 inhibitors have been developed for AML treatment. In paper III, we determined whether FLT3-ITD regulated TERT expression and whether TERT affected the therapeutic efficacy of FLT3 inhibitors. We found that the FLT3 inhibitor PKC412 down-regulated TERT expression in a MYC-dependent manner, while ectopic expression of TERT attenuated killing efficacy of PKC412 in AML cells.Altogether, our findings demonstrated that the interplay between TERT and FLT3ITD plays important roles in AML carcinogenesis and that FLT3 inhibitors, when combined with TERT inhibition, are more efficient in the induction of AML cell apoptosis.

In paper IV, we determined the effect of bortezomib on telomere homeostasis and its functional consequences. Bortezomib treatment inhibited TERT and telomerase expression, dysregulated shelterin proteins and shortened telomeres in AML and gastric cancer cell lines. The disrupted telomere structure triggered DNA damage response and cellular apoptosis. TERT overexpression significantly decreased DNA damage and telomere dysfunction and attenuated apoptosis mediated by bortezomib. Our findings collectively reveal a profound impact of bortezomib on telomere homeostasis/function, and down-regulation of TERT expression and telomere dysfunction induced by bortezomib thus both contributing to its cancer cell killing actions.

In summary, the present results provide novel insights of the biological functions of TERT/telomerase in malignant cells. In addition, the finding that the combination of telomerase inhibition with other anticancer agents induced a robust and synergistic anti-tumor effect may have future important clinical implications

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

I : Xiaolu Zhang*, BINGNAN LI*, Nick de Jonge, Magnus Björkholm, Dawei Xu (*Equal contribution)

The DNA methylation inhibitor induces telomere dysfunction and apoptosis of leukemia cells that is attenuated by telomerase over-expression Oncotarget, 2015, 6, 4888-4900.

II: Tiantian Liu, Xiuming Liang, BINGNAN LI, Magnus Björkholm, Jihui Jia, Dawei Xu Telomerase reverse transcriptase inhibition stimulates cyclooxygenase 2 expression in cancer cells and synergizes with celecoxib to exert anti-cancer effects British Journal of Cancer, 2013, 108, 2272-2280.

III: Xiaolu Zhang*, BINGNAN LI*, Jenny Dahlström, Anh Nhi Tran, Jihui Jia, Magnus Björkhom, Dawei Xu (*Equal contribution) MYC-dependent down-regulation of telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) by FLT3 inhibitors is required for their therapeutical efficacy on acute myeloid leukemia (AML) In manuscript.

IV: Xinyu Ci, BINGNAN LI, Xueping Ma, Feng Kong, Chengyun Zheng, Magnus Björkholm, Jihui Jia, Dawei Xu Bortezomib-mediated down-regulation of telomerase and disruption of telomere homeostasis contributes to apoptosis of malignant cells.

Oncotarget, 2015, advanced pulications, 2015

References to these studies will be made by the above Roman numerals

Table of Contents

1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML)	1
1.1.1 Definition	1
1.1.2 Classifications	1
1.1.3 Treatment	4
1.1.4 FMS-Like tyrosine kinase (FLT3) mutations in AML	5
1.1.5 FLT3 inhibitors	5
1.2 Telomere	5
1.2.1 Telomere structure and shelterin proteins	5
1.2.2 Hayflick limit and end replication problem	7
1.2.3 Telomere function, genomic instability and cancer	7
1.2.4 Telomere dysfunction	3
1.3 Telomerase	3
1.3.1 Telomerase and its components	3
1.3.2 TERT	Э
1.3.3 TERC	Э
1.3.4 Telomerase inhibition in cancer10	C
1.4 DNA methylation	C
1.4.1 Chemical nature of DNA methylation10	C
1.4.2 DNA methyltransferase (DNMT)10	C
1.4.3 DNA methylation in cancer11	1
1.4.4 DNA methylation inhibitors11	1
1.5 The ubiquitin dependent proteolysis system (UPS) and proteasome inhibition in cancer11	1
1.5.1 UPS function	1
1.5.2 Proteasome inhibition in cancer12	2
1.6 Cyclooxygenase (COX), COX2 inhibition and cancer12	2
1.6.1 Cyclooxygenase	2
1.6.2 COX2 inhibitors and cancer13	3
2 AIMS OF THE STUDY	4
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	5
3.1 Cell culture	5
3.2 Primary AML cell separation and culture	5
3.3 Small interfering RNA transfection15	5
3.4 Lentivirus infection	ô
3.5 Drug treatment	ô
	4

3.6 RNA extraction, reverse transcription and quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR)	17
3.7 Telomerase activity assay1	18
3.8 Cell cycle and apoptosis detection with flow cytometry1	18
3.9 Western blot1	19
3.10 Promoter activity assay	20
3.11 Puro. Cre-TERT promoter-driven-GFP plasmid and lenti-III-HA-GFP-TERT vectors	20
3.12 Quantitative Fluorescence In situ Hybridization (Q-FISH)2	21
3.13 Immuno Fluorescence In Situ Hybridizaiton (Immuno-FISH)	21
3.14 Flow FISH for telomere length assay	22
3.15 Subtelomeric DNA methylation at chromosome 4p2	22
3.16 cDNA array2	22
3.17 Mouse xenograft model	22
3.18 Statistical analyses	23
3.19 Ethics	23
4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	24
4.1 Paper I: The DNMT inhibitor induced telomere dysfunction and the overexpression of telomerase could attenuate its anti-cancer efficacy2	24
4.1.1 The DNMT inhibitor 5-AZA leads to apoptosis and induces DNA damage and telomere dysfunction	24
4.1.2 5-AZA suppresses TERT expression in AML cell lines	25
4.1.3 Ectopic expression of TERT attenuates telomere dysfunction	26
4.2 PAPER II : TERT inhibition stimulates COX2 expression and synergizes with the COX2 inhibitor to conduct anti-cancer effects	27
4.2.1 TERT inhibition activates COX2 promoter and stimulates COX2 expression via P38 MAPK signaling	27
4.2.2 TERT depletion synergizes with COX2 inhibition to exert anti-tumor effect in gastric cance cells and mouse xenograft models	er 28
4.3 PAPER $\rm III$: The FLT3 tyrosine kinase inhibitor PKC412 inhibits TERT expression in a MYC-dependent manner in AML cells and ectopic expression of TERT attenuates the TKI anti-tumor efficacy	29
4.3.1 The FLT3 TKI inhibits TERT promoter activity, decreases telomerase activity and attenuate TERT expression in a MYC-dependent manner	es 29
4.3.2 Ectopic expression of TERT activates alternative tyrosine kinase pathway, and abates PKC412 elicited apoptosis in a FLT-ITD+ AML cell line	30
4.4 PAPER IV : Bortezomib-induced downregulation of TERT and disruption of telomere	
homeostasis contribute to apoptosis of malignant cells	31
4.4.1 Bortezomib treatment leads to decline in TERT and TERC expression, disruption of shelterin protein expression, telomere shortening and telomere dysfunction	31

4.4.2 Ectopic expression of TERT attenuates bortezomib-induced downregulation of TRF1, TRF2	2,
TPP1 and RAP1, overcomes telomere dysfunction, reduces DNA damage and rescues cancer	
cells from apoptosis	33
5 CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVE	34
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	35
REFERENCES	37

ABBREVIATIONS

5-AZA	5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine
AKT	Protein kinase B
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
BRCA1	the breast cancer 1, early onset
CAB	Cajal box motif
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CBFB	Core-Binding Factor, Beta Subunit
CEBPA	CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein (C/EBP), Alpha
CDKN2A	Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A
COX	Cyclooxygenase
СР	Ciliated protozoan motif
CR	Complete remission
CSF	Colony-stimulating factor
DDR	DNA damage response
DEK	DEK Proto-Oncogene
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
DNMTI	DNA methyltransferase inhibitor
DOK3	Docking Protein 3
dNTP	Deoxy-ribonucleotide triphosphate
DSB	Double strand break
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ERK	Extracellular-signal-regulated kinases
EVI1	Ecotropic virus integration site 1 (protein homolog)
FAB	French-American-British
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FL	FLT3 ligand
FLT3	Fms-like tyrosine receptor 3
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor 2

ITD	Internal tandem duplication
JM	Juxtamembrane
KL	Kit ligand
IκB	Inhibitors of NF-KB
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MDS	Myelodysplastic Syndrome
MKL1	Megakaryoblastic Leukemia (Translocation) 1
MLH1	MutL homolog 1
MLLT3	Myeloid/Lymphoid Or Mixed-Lineage Leukemia; Translocated To, 3
MMLV	Moloney murine leukemia virus
MPN	Myeloproliferative neoplasm
MYH11	Myosin, Heavy Chain 11
NHEJ	Non-homologous end joining
NID-1	Nidogen-1
NK cell	Natural killer cell
NPM1	Nucleophosmin (Nucleolar Phosphoprotein B23, Numatrin)
NUP214	Nucleoporin 214kDa
OB-fold	Oligonucleotide/oligosaccharide-binding fold
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PI3K/AKT	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
PML	Promyelocytic leukemia
qRT-PCR	Quantitative Real-time PCR
RARA	Retinoic Acid Receptor, Alpha
RAP1	Repressor/activator protein 1
RBM15	RNA Binding Motif Protein 15
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPN1	Ribophorin I
RT	Reverse transcription
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
RUNX1	Runt-Related Transcription Factor 1
RUNX1T1	Runt-Related Transcription Factor 1; Translocated To, 1 (Cyclin D-Related)
siRNA	Small interfering RNA

snRNA	Small nuclear RNA
SULF2	Sulfatase 2
TCAB1	Telomerase Cajal body protein 1
TEN	Telomerase essential domain
TERC	Telomerase RNA component
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
TKI	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor
TIF	Telomere-induced foci
TIN2	TRF1-interacting nuclear protein 2
TPP1	TIN2 interacting protein 1
TRBD	TERT RNA binding domain
TRF1	Telomeric repeat binding factor 1
TRF2	Telomeric repeat binding factor 2
UPS	Ubiquitin dependent Proteolysis System
UTR	Untranslated region
VHL	Von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor
WDR79	Telomerase Cajal body protein 1
WHO	World Health Organizati

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML)

1.1.1 Definition

Acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) is a malignant disorder characterized by abnormal hematopoietic cell growth and differentiation. The expansion of immature myeloid cells (myeloblasts) in the bone marrow and peripheral blood occurs at the expense of the normal production of their terminally differentiated counterparts such as red cells, platelets and neutrophils^{1,2}. The clinical presentation of AML varies from an incidental finding on a routine blood test through to a life-threatening illness requiring immediate intervention. AML in the Western world is characterized by a slight male predominance and a median age at diagnosis of approximately 70 years. In AML excluding acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) the age-specific incidence rates rise gradually from around 40-50 years and more steeply from around age 60-64 years.

1.1.2 Classifications

There are two main systems that are used for classification of AML. In 1976, the French-American-British (FAB) proposed the first classification system for AML based on leukemic blast morphology, lineage differentiation direction and the maturation degree³ (Table 1). This proposal was modified in 1985 and clinically used until the World Health Organization (WHO) released a new classification system which emphasizes more on the prognostic relevance of genetic abnormalities and classifies the AML based on genetic alterations, immunophenotypic changes, biological and clinical features⁴ (Table 2). The WHO classification was revised in 2008 (Table 3).

FAB subtype	
M0	Undifferentiated AML

Table 1. FAB classification of AML

M1	AML without maturation	
M2	AML with maturation	
M3	Acute promyelocytic leukemia	
M4	Acute myelomonocytic leukemia (AMML)	
	subtype	
	M4 eos: Acute myelomonocytic leukemia	
	with over 5% eosinophils	
M5	Acute monocytic Leukemia	
	Subtype	
	M5a: Acute monoblastic Leukemia	
	M5b: Acute monocytic Leukemia	
M6	Acute erythroblastic Leukemia	
M7	Acute megakaryoblastic Leukemia	

Table 2. WHO classification of AML in 2001

1 AML with genetic abnormalities

AML (M2) with t(8;21) translocation

AML (M4eos) with a translocation or inversion of chromosome 16 (AMML Eos)

AML with chromosome 11 abnormalities (secondary AML)

AML (M3) with t(15;17) or rarely t(11;17) translocation (APML)

2 AML with multilineage dysplasia

With dysplasia in at least 50% of cells in at least two bone marrow cell lines

3 Secondary AML

Related to previous chemotherapy or radiation treatment

4 AML not otherwise specified

AML that doesn't fall into one of above groups, similar to FAB classification:

Undifferentiated AML(M0), AML with minimal maturation (M1), AML with maturation (M2), AMML (M4), AMoL (M5), Acute Erythroid Leukemia (M6), Aute Megakaryoblastic leukemia (M7), Acute Basophilic leukemia, Acute Panmyelosis with fibrosis, Myeloid sarcoma

5 Undifferentiated or biphenotypical acute leukemias

Both lymphoid and myeloid features

Table 3. WHO revised AML classification in 2008

1 Acute Myeloid Leukemia with rea	current genetic abnormalities
-----------------------------------	-------------------------------

AML with t(8;21)(q22;q22), RUNX1-RUNX1T1

AML with inv(16)(p13.1q22) or with t(16;16)(p13.1;q22); CBFB-MYH11

APL with t(15;17)(q22;q12); PML-RARA

AML with t(9;11)(p22;q23); MLLT3-MLL

AML with t(6;9)(p23;q34); DEK-NUP214

AML with inv(3)(q21q26.2) or t(3;3)(q21;q26.2); RPN1-EVI1

AML (Megakaryoblastic) with t(1;22)(p13;q13); RBM15-MKL1

Provisional entity: AML with mutated NPM1

Provisional entity: AML with mutated CEBPA

2 Acute myeloid Leukemia with myelodysplasia-related changes

3 Therapy related myeloid neoplasms

4 Acute myeloid leukemia, not otherwise specified

AML with minimal differentiation

AML without maturation

AML with maturation
Acute Myelomonocytic leukemia
Acute Monoblastic/Monocytic Leukemia
Acute Erythroid Leukemia
Pure Erythroid Leukemia
Erythroleukemia, erythroid/myeloid
Acute Megakaryoblastic Leukemia
Acute Basophilic leukemia
Acute Panmyelosis with myelofibrosis
5 Myeloid Sarcoma
6 Myeloid proliferations related to Down syndrome
Transcient abnormal myelopoiesis
Myeloid leukemia associated with Down syndrome
7 Blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm

1.1.3 Treatment

Combination chemotherapy is the cornerstone of treatment and approximately 80% of patients below 60 years at diagnosis reach a complete remission (CR) which is essential for prolonged survival of AML patients.² Induction therapy usually include (one or two courses) three days of an anthracycline and five to seven days of cytarabine to achieve CR. CR is defined as less than 5% blasts in the bone marrow, and normal values for absolute neutrophil count (>1.0 x 10^{9} /L) and platelet count (>100 x 10^{9} /L), and independence from red cell transfusion⁵. Postremission therapy often include consolidation therapy and allogeneic or sometimes autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. AML is now cured in 35 to 40% of adult patients who are 60 years of age or younger at diagnosis and in 5 to 15% of patients who are older than 60 years of age.

AML is characterized by an enormous molecular heterogeneity and the prognostic importance of this biologic heterogeneity is well accepted. However, only recently has the translation of this new information slowly led to improved/targeted therapy.

1.1.4 FMS-Like tyrosine kinase (FLT3) mutations in AML

FLT3 is a type III Receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) expressed in hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow. FLT3 facilitates cell growth, proliferation and differentiation of primitive hematopoietic progenitor cells⁶. FLT3-ITD is the somatic mutation of the FLT3 in the juxtamembrane domain and observed in approximately 20-25% of AML patients⁷⁻¹¹. The juxtamembrane domain is autoinhibitory, and thus the ITD mutation disrupts this autoinhibitory function and constitutively activates the enzyme^{12,13}. FLT3-ITD is considered as driver in the development of AML and a predictor for poor outcome in AML patients.^{7-11,14-19}

1.1.5 FLT3 inhibitors

In recent years, small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) have been synthesized to target FLT3 and are now under evaluation in clinical trials for induction chemotherapy and postremission therapy^{20,21}. These TKIs include tandutinib²², lestaurtinib²³, midostaurin²⁴, sorafenib²⁵, sunitinib and quizartinib. Resistance to treatment is always a major obstacle in AML therapy²⁶⁻²⁸. With respect to FLT3 inhibition the underlying mechanism involves the occurrence of new mutations in the FLT3 genomic region. However, these new mutations were only detected in a part of FLT3TKI resistant patients.

1.2 Telomere

1.2.1 Telomere structure and shelterin proteins

Human telomeres are composed of tandem repeats of TTAGGG DNA sequences, usually extending 10-15kb. Telomeres are double stranded repeats with a single strand 3' G rich tail. The overhang can then invade the double strand telomere tract and forms a lasso-like structure termed telomeric loop (T-Loop)^{29,30}. The single strand tail acts as the docking site for binding protective capping proteins, like POT1 (see below), to maintain genomic stability (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Telomere protects the chromosome end and shelterin proteins bind to the telomere

Human telomeres are bound by a specific group of six proteins, termed shelterin proteins: telomere repeat binding factor 1 (TRF1) and 2 (TRF2), protection of telomeres 1 (POT1), repressor/activator protein 1 (RAP1)³¹, TRF1-interacting nuclear protein 2 (TIN2) and TIN2 interacting protein 1 (TPP1)^{32,33}. The proper combination of shelterin proteins as well as the sufficiently long telomere protect chromosome ends from DNA damage, degradation, genomic destabilization³⁴ and genomic recombination or fusions³⁵. The shelterin proteins form the bridge to bring together the binding proteins of ssDNA and dsDNA and protects the chromosome end from being recognized as DNA damage or breaks. TRF1 and TRF2 bind to the double strand telomere, each of them contains the TRFH domain for homodimerization³⁶ and Myb domain for dsDNA telomere binding³⁷⁻³⁹.

POT1 binds the single strand telomere part with the DNA-binding domain (DBD) (Figure 2), formed by two oligonucleotide/oligosaccharide-binding fold (OB-fold) elements⁴⁰⁻⁴⁵. The further formation of the ternary complex with TPP1 enhances the interaction^{46,47}. The crucial bridging unit TIN2 not only joins the TRF1 and TRF2 but also puts TRF1, TRF2, POT1 and TPP1 together. As TRF1 cannot heterodimerize or interact with TRF2, the linking role of TIN2 seems necessary. N-terminal of TIN2 recruits TPP1 to the telomere by binding its C-terminal⁴⁸⁻⁵².



Figure 2. POT1 binds to single strand DNA of telomere⁵³

1.2.2 Hayflick limit and end replication problem

Fifty years ago, Hayflick and Moorhead discovered that the proliferative capacity of somatic cells like normal human fibroblast cells were intrinsically limited⁵⁴. After about 60-80 doubling cycles, cultured fibroblast cells stop dividing and adopt a senescent phenotype. This proliferative limit, known as hayflick limit or replicative senescence⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷, is mainly caused by over-shortened telomeres. On the other hand, the DNA polymerase can only synthesize DNA from 5' to 3', incapable of filling the gap left behind by the 5' end, which leads to chromosome end replication problem⁵⁸.

1.2.3 Telomere function, genomic instability and cancer

Telomere conceals the linear chromosome from being detected as DNA Double Strand Break (DSB). Critical telomere shortening and disruption in telomere structure are important causes of genomic instability. When telomere length reaches below the minimal functional length, or

the telomere become uncapped, it will be recognized as the DSB, and thereby DNA damage response (DDR) is triggered⁵⁹. The uncapped telomere will be repaired by the homologous recombination or NHEJ (non-homologous end joining) and leads to end-to-end fusion, which could be achieved, via either classic non-homologous end joining (C-NHEJ) or alternative non-homologous end joining (A-NHEJ) or other alternative pathways⁶⁰⁻⁶². The end-to-end fusion between sister or other different chromatins leads to breakage-fusion-bridge cycle. The breakage-fusion-bridge cycle can result in deletions, amplifications and rearrangements of chromosomes that are often observed in cancer cells. This cycle will continue until the telomere healing occurs.

1.2.4 Telomere dysfunction

Studies have demonstrated that the shortest telomere length rather than traditionally thought the average telomere length determines the cell response. In human fibroblasts, the threshold of senescence is about five repeats short telomeres. Critically short telomeres would be dysfunctional and elicit the DNA damage repair activation. Phenotypically, co-localization of the telomere with the DNA damage repair proteins like 53BP1 or rH2AX would be expected.

1.3 Telomerase

1.3.1 Telomerase and its components

Telomerase is a specialized DNA polymerase responsible for synthesizing TTAGGG DNA repeats onto the chromosome ends. Telomerase holo-enzyme consists of two conserved components: the core catalytic protein TERT^{63,64} and the RNA template TERC. TERT and TERC are assembled in the Cajal body to form the functional ribonucleoprotein enzyme complex⁶⁵ (Figure 3). By synthesizing telomeric DNA (tandem repeated TTAGGG sequence), telomerase compensates for the gradually lost telomere and provides solutions to the chromosome end replication problem. Telomerase expression is low in most somatic cells⁶⁶, while high in germline and stem cells⁶⁷.



Figure 3. Telomerase is assembled in Cajal body and delivered to the telomere

1.3.2 TERT

The reverse transcriptase subunit TERT contains about 1000 amino acids⁶⁸ and contains 3 major domains: the telomerase essential domain (TEN), TERT RNA binding domain (TRBD), and the reverse transcriptase domain with finger, palm and thumb⁶³. The fingers and palm recognize the RNA arm and fit the template into catalytic center. The thumb recognizes and stabilizes the DNA primer. The T and CP pockets bind the template boundary element to ensure repeat addition according to the RNA template only⁶⁹. The TEN domain anchors on the telomeric DNA and uses the inside DAT motif for telomerase recruitment^{70,71}.

1.3.3 TERC

The human TERC templates for telomere synthesis is 451 nucleotide long⁷². TERC has a template boundary element that limits reverse transcriptional range⁷³⁻⁷⁵. In the site of the catalytic center, the triple helix and pseudoknot orientate the primer-template and plays a certain catalytic role⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸. TERC also functions by loading the template into active center and aid template relocation during multi rounds of repeat addition^{79,80}. TERC binds to telomerase by the template-pseudoknot domain and CR4-CR5 domain⁸¹⁻⁸³. The distinct RNA structure and elements of TERC provide possibility of telomerase accessory protein binding. H/ACA box on 3' end of TERC could bind dyskerin, NOP10, NHP2 and GAR1^{84,85}. Another important motif on the 3' end is Cajal box motif (CAB), which binds telomerase Cajal body protein 1

(TCAB1/WDR79) and localizes the TERC into the Cajal body for assemble of telomerase package.

1.3.4 Telomerase inhibition in cancer

Telomerase plays very important roles in carcinogenesis and thus, inhibition of telomerase should be considered as one anti-cancer approach. Several telomerase inhibitors have been developed such as BIBR1532, GRN163 and GRN163L. Recently, GRN163L (imetelstat) has been shown to deliver fast and durable hematologic effects in essential thrombocythemia patients⁸⁶.

1.4 DNA methylation

1.4.1 Chemical nature of DNA methylation

DNA methylation occurs at 5' carbon of the cytosine ring by covalent addition of a methyl group, which occurs at the major group of the genomic DNA strand and blocks the transcription⁸⁷.

DNA methylation commonly takes place in cytosine in CpG dinucleotides. These CpG dinucleotide clusters in gene promoter regions, where transcription is initiated, silence the genes or non-coding genomic regions⁸⁸.

In normal cells, heterochromatin like pericentromere regions are heavily methylated and transcriptionally silenced. In females, the inactivated X chromosome is also heavily methylated. Besides, some imprinted genes that only express maternal or paternal alleles also rely on DNA methylation^{88,89}.

1.4.2 DNA methyltransferase (DNMT)

DNA methylation relies on DNMTs, with three major isforms: DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3B. DNMT1 is mainly involved in the maintenance of existing methylation pattern, while DNMT3A and DNMT3B target unmethylated nucleotides including CpG sites, which is enriched in CpG islands, and large repetitive sequences like centromeres and retrotransposon elements.

1.4.3 DNA methylation in cancer

Cancer epigenome is characterized by altered DNA methylation patterns. Cancer cells manifest global hypomethylation and local hypermethylation. DNA hypomethylation in cancer occurs in repetitive sequences, low density CpG regions⁹⁰⁻⁹⁷, retrotransposons, lamin associated domains⁹⁸⁻¹⁰¹, introns, etc. This hypomethylation will lead to genomic instability through chromosome rearrangement and translocation to other genomic regions. Hypomethylation also leads to activation of oncogenes and losses of genomic imprinting.

Another apparent epigenetic change in cancer is the hypermethylation in CpG island promoter regions¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴ which silences the tumor-suppressor genes, such as the breast cancer 1, early onset (BRCA1), CDKN2A/p16INK4A (cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A), MLH1 and VHL, and CpG island shores¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷. Hypermethylation occurs in hematopoietic malignances like myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and contributes to leukemic transformation¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹².

1.4.4 DNA methylation inhibitors

The DNA methylation inhibitors include 5-azacitidine (5-AZA)¹¹³, decitabine, zebularine¹¹⁴, NPEOC-DAC¹¹⁵, CP-4200^{116,117}, and RX-3117¹¹⁸⁻¹²⁰. They induce the recovery of methylation silenced genes in cancer and lead to apoptosis and growth arrest in cancer cells. Both 5-AZA and decitabine have shown positive clinical effects in subsets of AML and MDS patients¹²¹.

1.5 The ubiquitin dependent proteolysis system (UPS) and proteasome inhibition in cancer

1.5.1 UPS function

The UPS is the main player in regulated protein degradation in prokaryotic cells and functions critically in regulation of variety of pathways, including apoptosis¹²², proliferation¹²³, DNA repair^{124,125}, transcription¹²⁶, etc. UPS initializes an enzymatic cascade via minimal of Ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1, ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2 and ubiquitin ligase E3 activities. Ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1 forms a highly energetic thioester bond between glycine residue of ubiquitin and cysteine residue within E1 itself, utilizing energy from the ATP

hydrolysis. This energized ubiquitin is then transferred to the cysteine of the ubiquitin conjugating enzyme E2. Finally, the E2 cooperates with E3, the ubiquitin ligase, to transfer this high energy ubiquitin to the lysine of target protein. This initial ubiquitin acts as the acceptor for further ubiquitin modification and forms a polyubiquitin chain onto the target protein. The ubiquited proteins are then targeted towards the proteasome. This proteasome is a large complex responsible for degradation of large variety of intracellular proteins.

1.5.2 Proteasome inhibition in cancer

The proteasome pathway takes part in cell proliferation and anti-apoptosis, especially involving the pro-oncogenic NF- κ B pathway, which plays vigorous roles in many cancer types. I κ Bs retains the NF- κ B within cytoplasm and keeps it inactive. When polyubiquitylated, polyubiquitinated I κ Bs will be degraded by the proteasome and thus unleash the NF- κ B. The proteasome inhibitor bortezomib (Velcade/PS-341)¹²⁷⁻¹³² targets the active sites of 20S proteasome reversibly and prevent the degradation of I κ B, thus holding NF- κ B in leash¹³³. The inhibition of NF- κ B reduces the pro-inflammation gene expression and results in elevated expression of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors P21^{Cip1} and P27^{Kip1}, leading to apoptosis of tumor cells. Aside from this, evidence shows that bortezomib also induces endoplasmicreticulum stress thereby increasing cell death.

1.6 Cyclooxygenase (COX), COX2 inhibition and cancer

1.6.1 Cyclooxygenase

Cyclooxygenase (COX) is a key enzyme responsible for inflammation, converting arachidonic acid to prostaglandin and thromboxane¹³⁴. COX has at least two isoforms, COX-1¹³⁵ and COX-2¹³⁶. While COX-1 is constitutively expressed in most tissues for maintaining physiologic homeostasis, COX-2 is induced by inflammatory stimuli but not normally present except in CNS¹³⁷ and kidneys¹³⁸ including cytokines and growth factors. Studies have shown that COX-2 contributes to cancer development and progression in various types of malignancy.

1.6.2 COX2 inhibitors and cancer

COX2 plays an important role in suppressing apoptosis and promoting cell survival via PI3K/AKT^{139,140}, ERK^{141,142}, cAMP¹⁴², EGFR^{143,144}, RAS-MAPK signaling¹⁴⁵, COX2/PGE₂/EP4 axis¹⁴⁶ and promote tumor survival. Thus, COX2 specific inhibitors¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁴⁹ have been utilized in cancer therapy and some in clinical trials, such as celecoxib^{150,151}, rofecoxib¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁵, nimesulide, etc.

2 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The overall objective of the present study is to define the role of telomerase in oncogenesis and to identify potential novel therapeutic strategies for human malignancies. Specifically, the study is aimed at

- probing the effect of the DNA methylation inhibitor 5-AZA on telomere function, and exploring mechanisms of DNMT inhibitors' action
- defining the effect of TERT inhibition on COX2 expression and exploring the synergistic anti-tumor efficacy of COX2 and TERT inhibition;
- probing the functional interplay between FLT3-ITD and telomerase in AML;
- exploring the mechanism underlying the anti-cancer effect of bortezomib and its effect on telomere homeostasis and function.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Cell culture

Cells grew in 10% fetal calf serum-containing RPMI-1640 (Life Technologies, Paisley, Scotland, UK) with addition of 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics (50 mg/mL penicillin, and 50 mg/mL streptomycin) in a humid atmosphere at 37°C/5% CO₂.

In PAPER I, AML cell lines KG1A and HEL were used.

Human gastric cancer cell lines AGS (ATCC, 2007) and BGC-823 (Beijing Cancer Institute, China, 2008), the cervical cancer cell line HeLa (ATCC, 2001), normal human skin fibroblasts and osteosarcoma cell line U2OS were used in PAPER II.

In PAPER III ,FLT3-ITD-harboring AML cell lines MV4,11 and MOLM-13, acute promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL60 and cervical cancer cell line were used.

In PAPER IV, the leukemia cell line HEL and the gastric cancer cell line BGC-823 were cultured.

3.2 Primary AML cell separation and culture

Primary AML cells were derived from five AML patients. Peripheral blood was drawn into heparinized glass tubes and leukemic cells were isolated by Lymphoprep gradient centrifugation (Nycomed, Oslo, Norway), and subsequently incubated in complete medium in the absence or presence of 5-AZA as described above.

3.3 Small interfering RNA transfection

Chemically modified Stealth control and TERT siRNAs were bought from Invitrogen.

Cells were incubated in 6-well plates, with density 1.0×10^5 cells per well, overnight and then transfected with siRNA (sequence in table) using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction.

Table 4. SiRNA sequence

	Sequence
Control	50 -CCUACAUCCCGAUCGAUGAU- GUUGA-30
TERT	50 -AGGCACUGUUCAGCGUGCU- CAACUA-30

3.4 Lentivirus infection

To knock down TERT expression, we infected cells with a lenti-viral vector encoding TERT siRNA (Invitrogen) and the cells were maintained in puromycin-containing medium $(2\mu g/ml)$ 48h post infection

A lenti-III-HA-GFP-TERT vector was constructed and a Lenti-BMN-GFP vector (a gift from Rudbeck Laboratory, Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology of Uppsala University) was used as control. The lentiviral vector was packaged in 293FT cells and supernatant collected to infect HEL cells. The cells were selected using puromycin (2 μ g/ml).

3.5 Drug treatment

To inhibit COX2, COX1 and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activity, BGC-823 cells were treated with the specific COX2 inhibitor celecoxib (50 μ M), aspirin (0.4 mM) and p38 MAPK inhibitor SB203580 (10 or 20 mM) for different time periods (all from Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA), respectively.

The DNA methylation inhibitor 5-AZA was bought from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, USA) and exponentially growing cells were cultured in the presence and absence of 5-AZA (0, 0.5, 1, 2 and 5 μ M) for up to 144 hours or 6 days. Culture medium was replaced with freshly prepared 5-AZA-containing medium every second day.

The specific FLT3 inhibitor PKC412 (Sigma-Aldrich, Buchs, Switzerland) was diluted in DMSO and cells were incubated with different concentrations of PKC412 for various time periods.

Bortezomib was bought from Selleck Chemicals (Houston, TX, USA) and exponentially growing cells were incubated with bortezomib at different concentrations for various time periods.

3.6 RNA extraction, reverse transcription and quantitative realtime PCR (qPCR)

Total cellular RNA from cells with different treatments was extracted using Trizol (Life Technology, Paisley, Scotland, UK).

cDNA was synthesized using random primers (N6; Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK), and M-MLV reverse transcriptase.

qPCR was carried out in an ABI7700 sequence detector (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) using SYBR Green kit (Applied Biosystems) and the following primers:

TERT, β 2-M in PAPER I;

TERT, COX2, COX1, $\beta 2\text{-}M$ in PAPER II ;

TERT, c-MYC, c-KIT, DOK3, NID-1 and SULF2 in PAPER III;

TERT, TERC, TRF1, TRF2, TPP1, POT1, RAP1 and TIN2 in PAPER IV.

Levels of TERT, COX2, COX1, TERC, TRF1, TRF2, TPP1, POT1, RAP1, TIN2, c-MYC, c-KIT, DOK3, NID-1 and SULF2 mRNA were calculated based on the cycle threshold (CT) values and normalization of human β 2-M expression.

Gene	Forward	Reverse
TRF1	5'-GCTGTTTGTATGGAAAATGGC-3'	5'-CCGCTGCCTTCATTAGAAAG-3
TRF2	5'- GACCTTCCAGCAGAAGATGCT-3'	5'-GTTGGAGGATTCCGTAGCTG-3'
TPP1	5'- CCCGCAGAGTTCTATCTCCA-3'	5'-GGACAGTGATAGGCCTGCAT-3'
TIN2	5'- GGAGTTTCTGCGATCTCTGC-3'	5'-GATCCCGCACTATAGGTCCA-3
POT1	5'-TGGGTATTGTACCCCTCCAA-3'	5'-GATGAAGCATTCCAACCACGG-3'
RAP1	5'-CGGGGAACCACAGAATAAGA-3'	5'-CTCAGGTGTGGGTGGATCAT-3'
TERC	5'-TCTAACCCTAACTGAGAAGGGCGTAG-3'	5'-GTTTGCTCTAGAATGAACGGTGGAAG-3'
TERT	5'-CGGAAGAGTGTCTGGAGCAA-3'	5'-GGATGAAGCGGAGTCTGGA-3

Table 5. Q-PCR primer sequences and Primer sequences for telomere length analyses

β2-Μ	5'-GAATTGCTATGTGTCTGGGT-3'	5'-CATCTTCAAACCTCCATGATG-3'
COX2	5' -GCCCAGCACTTCACGCATCAG-3'	5' -AGACCAGGCACCAGACCAAAGACC-3'
COX1	5'-CGGCTGCAGCCCTTCAATGAGT-3'	5' -CTCTCCCCAAAGATAGAGTTTGGA-3'
c-MYC	5'-TACCCTCTCAACGACAGCAGCTCGCCCAACTCCT- 3'	5'-TCTTGACATTCTCCTCGGTGTCCGAGGACCT-3'
c-KIT	5'-TCATGGTCGGATCACAAAGA-3'	5'-AGGGGCTGCTTCCTAAAGAG-3'
DOK3	5'-GTCCCCATGGAGGAAAACTC-3'	5'-AAGTGGTAGGGCCAGCTGTA-3'
NID-1	5'-AGGAGCTCTTTCCCTTCGGC-3'	5'-CGGGGGTTCACTCGTAGCAA-3'
SULF2	5'-CCGCCCAGCCCCGAAACC-3'	5'-CTCCCGCAACAGCCACACCTT-3'
Primer sequences for telomere length analyses		
Tel1b	5' -CGGTTTGGGTTTGGGT-TTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTT-3'	
Tel2b	5' -GGCTTGCCTTACCCTTACCC-TTACCCTTACCCT-3'	
HBG3	5' -TGTGCTGGCCCATCACTTTG-3'	
HBG4	5' -ACCAGCCA-CCACTTTCTGATAGG-3'	

3.7 Telomerase activity assay

Telomerase activity was assessed using a commercial Telomerase PCR ELISA kit (Roche Diagnostics Scandinavia AB, Stockholm, Sweden) as recommended by the manufacturer. For each assay, 1 μ g of protein was used, and 26 PCR cycles were performed after the telomerase-primer elongation reaction. The PCR products were detected using ELISA color reaction and the level of telomerase activity was expressed as absorbance in arbitrary units.

3.8 Cell cycle and apoptosis detection with flow cytometry

In PAPER I AML cells were treated with different concentrations of 5-AZA for three days, and then harvested and fixed in ethanol followed by PI staining. The PI fluorescence was measured with a FlowCytometer (Beckman Coulter). For each sample 1×10^6 cells were measured. Data analysis was performed with Kaluza® Flow Analysis Software. The control gate was set based on the negative control.

In PAPER II BGC-823 cells transfected with control and TERT siRNA were incubated with and without celecoxib and harvested after 4 days. The cells were fixed with 70% ethanol at +4°C overnight and stained with RNase A (0.5 mg)-containing propidiumiodide (50 mg/ml) Cell cycle distribution was determined using flow cytometry with ModFit (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA).

In PAPERIII Stable MOLM-13 cells were transfected with control pBMN or TERT-expressing lentiviral vectors, treated with 0.1 μ M PKC412 and harvested after 24 hrs then fixed with 70% ethanol at + 4°C overnight and stained with RNAse A (0.5 μ g) containing PI, 50 μ g/ml. Cell cycle distribution was determined using flow cytometry with ModFit.

In PAPER IV cells were treated with bortezomib, and then harvested for apoptosis assay. The cells were stained with a kit from BD Biosciences and analysed using a FlowCytometer (BD). For each sample 1×10^6 cells were measured. The control gate was set based on the negative control.

3.9 Western blot

Total cellular proteins were extracted with RIPA lysis buffer.

In PAPER II for the assessment of phosphorylated p38 MAPK, cells were washed once with sodium orthovanadate-containing buffers to inhibit phosphatases before RIPA buffer lysis. $20\mu g$ proteins were subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were probed with the specific antibodies against COX2 (Cayman chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), Phospho-p38 MAPK (Thr180/Tyr182), p38 MAPK (Cell Signaling Technology, Billerica, MA, USA) or β -actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and then with secondary anti-mouse or rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated IgG (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA)

In PAPERIII proteins were probed with the specific antibody against FLT3, p- FLT3, Akt and p-Akt (Cell Signalling Technology, Boston, USA) or c-MYC (Santa Cruz Biotechnologies) followed by anti-mouse or rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated IgG.

In PAPER IV proteins were probed with the specific antibodies against TRF1 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA, T1948), TFR2 (Novus, Littleton, CO, USA, #NB110-57130), POT1 (Novus, NB500-176), Caspase3 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA, #9665), or Bcl-2 (ProteinTech, Wuhan, China, #12789-1-AP) followed by anti-mouse or rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated IgG.

 β -actin immunoblotting was performed in parallel as a loading control.

The membrance were then developed by chemiluminescence (SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate, Thermo Scientific).

3.10 Promoter activity assay

In PAPER II, to determine the effect of TERT knock-down on the COX2 promoter reporter activity, we transfected control and TERT-depleted BGC-823 cells with the COX2 reporter construct, in which the COX2 core promoter sequences (-327/+59) were inserted up-stream of a luciferase-encoding DNA fragment (Katsukawa et al, 2010; Inoue and Nakata, 2011; kindly provided by Dr Hiroyasu Inoue, Nara Women's University, Japan). The COX2 promoter-driven luciferase activity was determined using a dual luciferase reporter assay system (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) 48h post transfection, and the target promoter-driven firefly luciferase activity was normalised to the renilla activity included in the kit.

In PAPER III The TERT promoter reporter plasmid $p181^{wt}$ harboring the core promoter sequence of the TERT 5'-flanking region and its mutant variant ($p181^{MYC}$ -) lacking the functional c-MYC motifs (E-boxes) were described previously. Cells cultured in 24-well plates at 0.5×10^6 cells /well were transfected with $p181^{wt}$ and $p181^{MYC}$ - plasmids using Lipofectamine2000 (Life Technology) according to the manufacturer's protocol, followed by treatment with PKC412. Luciferase activity in the cell lysates was determined by using a dual luciferase reporter assay system (Promega, WI) 24 hours post-transfection of the promoter reporter.

3.11 Puro. Cre-TERT promoter-driven-GFP plasmid and lenti-III-HA-GFP-TERT vectors

The h3.4k-GFP plasmid containing 3.4kb TERT promoter (+1 to -3405, ATG as +1) was obtained from Dr. Pei-Rong Huang (National Taiwan University), and the 3.4kb TERT promoter fragment was inserted into a pPuro. Cre empty vector (Addgene) upstream of GFP gene. For pLenti-III-HA-GFP-TERT vector construction, pLenti-III-HA empty vector was

bought from Applied Biological Materials Inc. (BC, Canada), a 4.5kb GFP-TERT fragment was cut from pBabe-hygro-GFP-TERT (Addgene) and inserted into pLenti-III-HA. A control plasmid, pLenti-BMN-GFP was a gift from Rudbeck Laboratory, Uppsala University. The vectors were then packaged and viral particles collected to infect AML cells to make TERT promoter-driven GFP cells and TERT-over-expressed cells.

3.12 Quantitative Fluorescence In situ Hybridization (Q-FISH)

BGC-823 cells were transfected with control and TERT siRNA and the metaphase cells harvested at 72h. Telomere length was determined using quantitative FISH (Q-FISH) with PNA (CCCTAA)3 probe. The signal intensity in 50 cells was determined using NIS software (Nikon, Stockholm, Sweden) and expressed in arbitrary units.

3.13 Immuno Fluorescence In Situ Hybridizaiton (Immuno-FISH)

Briefly, cells were harvested and cytospined onto Superfrost plus slides (Thermo Scientific), fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, permeabilized with Triton PBS for 20 mins and blocked with serum free Block (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark). The slides were then incubated with 53BP1 antibody (Bethyl Inc., Montgomery, Texas, USA) followed by incubation with Alexa 594 secondary antibody (Jackson Labs Technologies Inc., Los Gatos, CA, USA). The slides were treated with frozen and thawed cycle in liquid nitrogen, and incubated in 0.1N HCL for 10 min. The PNA-telomere probe (PANAGENE Inc., Daejeon, Korea) was added. The slides were then subjected to 85°C denaturation for 10 min and 30°C hybridization for 2h and a following washing procedure. High-resolution images were collected using Leica Confocal TCS SP5 with 488 nm and 594 nm sequential laser scan. Z stack images was acquired with slide interval recommended optimization and between-stack mode. The co-localization of 53BP1 and telomere signals was examined and analyzed on each layer by two separate independent persons in a double-blind manner.

3.14 Flow FISH for telomere length assay

Flow FISH was performed according to previous protocols by Baerlocher *et al.* with minor modifications. Cells from calf thymus were kindly donated from the butchery Ö-slakt AB (Värmdö, Stockholm). Stained cells were captured with Gallios flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter) and analyzed using the Kaluza software (Beckman Coulter, Caguas, PR, USA). For normalization, fluorescent MESF-FITC beads (Bangs Laboratories, Fishers, IN, USA) were used and the fluorescent signal was quantified using the QuickCal v.2.3 data analysis program (Bangs Laboratories).

3.15 Subtelomeric DNA methylation at chromosome 4p

Genomic DNA, extracted from control and TERT- over-expressed HEL cells with or without 5-AZA, was subject to bisulfite conversion using an EZ DNA Methylation-Gold Kit (ZYMO RESEARCH, Irvine, CA, USA). PCR primers specific to the subtelomere region of chromosome 4p was used to amplify the target region. The obtained PCR products were then sequenced from both directions. Two independent experiments were performed.

3.16 cDNA array

MOLM-13 cells infected with control pBMN or TERT-expressing lentiviral vectors were treated with 0.1 μ M PKC412 for 12 hrs and total RNA extracted. The affymetrix Human Gene 1.0 ST Array was performed. The fold change in gene expression between DMSO- and PKC412-treated cells was then calculated.

3.17 Mouse xenograft model

BGC-823 cells were infected with control and siTERT lenti-viral vectors were collected, 2.0 x 10⁶ cells were suspended in 100 ml PBS. The cells were then subcutaneously injected into nude mice (Shanghai Slac Laboratory Animal Co. Ltd., Shanghai, China) at the right back. The mice harbouring control and TERT siRNA BGC-823 cells were divided into two groups each, and

one of them was fed with celocoxib containing drinking water (1.5 mg/ml), based on studies of prostate cancer tumour model. Therefore, there were a total of four groups (10 mice per group): (1) control siRNA group; (2) control siRNA plus celecoxib group; (3) TERT siRNA group; (4) TERT siRNA plus celecoxib group. Mice were euthanized after 3 weeks and tumours were isolated for the measurement of weight, size and other analyses.

3.18 Statistical analyses

In PAPER I, Student's T-test was used to compare cell numbers, apoptotic cells, TERT mRNA levels and telomere length between control and 5-AZA-treated AML cells.

In PAPER II, Mann–Whitney U-test or Student's T-test was used for analyses of differences between experiment groups.

In PAPERIII, The comparison of mRNA expression, promoter activity, telomerase activity and cell cycle analysis between control and experimental groups was made using a Student's T-test or One- way ANOVA followed by LSD test. P value less than 0.05 is considered significant.

In PAPER IV, Student's T-test or Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare cell numbers, apoptotic cells, TERT, TERC and shelterin protein mRNA levels and telomere length between control and bortezomib-treated cells.

All the tests were two-tailed and computed using SPSS or SigmaStat 3.1 software (Systat Software, Inc., Richmond, CA, USA) software. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3.19 Ethics

Study I was approved by the regional ethical review board in Stockholm, Sweden. Study II was approved by Chinese Ethical review board in Jinan, China.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Paper I: The DNMT inhibitor induced telomere dysfunction and the overexpression of telomerase could attenuate its anticancer efficacy

4.1.1 The DNMT inhibitor 5-AZA leads to apoptosis and induces DNA damage and telomere dysfunction

HEL cells seem to be more sensitive to 5-AZA treatment than KG1A cells with almost complete growth arrest at a concentration of 0.5μ M. The trypan blue staining showed a progressive decline in HEL cell viability with increased concentrations of 5-AZA and longer incubation time. PI staining using flow cytometric analysis showed that the declined viability was due to increased cellular apoptosis.

Previous publications revealed DNA damage response in 5-AZA treated cancer cells^{156,157}. We wanted to investigate this phenomena in AML cell lines by determining the focal formation of 53BP1 protein foci, a very well established DNA damage response marker. 53BP1 signals were detected in 5-AZA treated cell lines KG1A and HEL and were absent in corresponding untreated control cells.

Our next question was whether 5-AZA treatment could induce telomere dysfunction. Here we utilized the co-localization of the DNA damage marker protein, 53BP1 and the telomere signals to demonstrate the dysfunctional telomere induced foci (TIF) using immune-fluorescent in situ hybridization (Immuno-FISH). Telomeres were shown as green signals. In both AML cell lines (KG1A and HEL) treated with 5-AZA, the DNA damage signal 53BP1, red dots, was detected while absent in control untreated AML cell lines. In addition, the merged image showed the co-localization of 53BP1 foci on the telomere signal in 5-AZA exposed cells and this co-localization was rarely found in untreated cells (Figure 4).

In order to find the reason for telomere dysfunction, we measured telomere length. The two AML cell lines (KG1A and HEL) were exposed to 2.0μ M and 5.0μ M 5-AZA for 72h and then analyzed with Flow-FISH. Both cell lines exposed to 2.0μ M 5-AZA exhibited slightly shorter

telomeres compare to untreated cells while apparent attrition of telomeres became apparent at $5.0 \mu M$ exposure 5-AZA.

Previous reports indicated the contribution of subtelomeric regions to the telomere stability, as the methylation status of these regions locally affects the chromatin structure. Methylation specific PCR together with Sanger sequencing were performed to examine the subtelomere region methylation configuration of chromosome 4p. Out of a total of 31 CpGs in the amplicon, 25 were methylated in untreated HEL cells, 24 of which remained methylated after 5-AZA exposure. These results illustrate the resistance of subtelomeric regions to DNMT inhibitors.



Figure 4. 5-AZA leads to apoptosis and induces DNA damage and telomere dysfunction

4.1.2 5-AZA suppresses TERT expression in AML cell lines

To further explore the mechanism of telomere shortening, we analysed telomerase expression and telomerease activity in 5-AZA treated KG1A and HEL cell lines. After 5-AZA exposure in KG1A cells, TERT mRNA expression was significantly downregulated in a dose dependent manner. The same results were observed in the 5-AZA treated HEL cell line. In addition, the telomerase activity was also diminished but to a lesser extent probably due to a longer half-life of telomerase.

To further investigate whether the results achieved in AML cell lines could be duplicated in AML primary cells we tested the 5-AZA effect on primary cells obtained from newly diagnosed AML patients. Similar to the cell line experiments telomerase expression was downregulated after 5-AZA exposure in of all the five patients.

4.1.3 Ectopic expression of TERT attenuates telomere dysfunction

Given the above observation, we would like to rule out whether ectopic expression of TERT could antagonize the 5-AZA effect. We constructed the TERT overexpression HEL cell line with lentiviral TERT expression construct, which lead to two-fold increase in telomerase activity and abolished the 5-AZA effect on telomerase expression. After ectopic expression of TERT, 5-AZA induced apoptosis was decreased and the number of TIFs declined as compared to control cells (Figure 5).



Fiugre 5. Ectopic expression of TERT attenuates telomere dysfunction

In summary, we demonstrate that 5-AZA could depress TERT expression in AML cells, shorten telomeres which led to telomere dysfunction which subsequently induced apoptosis.

Meanwhile, ectopic expression of TERT could antagonize apoptosis and telomere dysfunction induced by 5-AZA. Thus, telomere-induced dysfunction may contribute to the anti-tumor effect of DNMT inhibitors.

4.2 PAPER II: TERT inhibition stimulates COX2 expression and synergizes with the COX2 inhibitor to conduct anti-cancer effects

4.2.1 TERT inhibition activates COX2 promoter and stimulates COX2 expression via P38 MAPK signaling

Our first question was whether TERT inhibition will affect the COX2 expression level, and whether COX2 forms a positive feedback loop with TERT. Specific TERT siRNA was transfected into gastric and cervical cancer cell lines and followed by qPCR and western blot to determine the mRNA and protein expression of COX2. Unexpectedly, we observed elevated COX2 expression. This elevated COX2 expression was observed at 24h and lasted for the whole observation period, which suggests a constitutive rather than transient elevation (Figure 6).

Our next question was what could be the reason behind this COX2 elevation. We transfected a gastric cell line BGC-823 with the reporter construct harboring the COX2 promoter. The COX2 promoter activity was higher in TERT depleted BGC-823 cells compared with that in control cells.

Previous studies showed that the P38 MAPK signaling played very important roles in COX2 regulation¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶³. We asked whether this was the case here. We detected increased levels of p-P38 (Phospho P38 at Thr180/Tyr182) in TERT siRNA treated BGC-823 and HeLa cells compared with controls. To establish the causal link, we tested the P38MAPK specific inhibitor on cells transfected with TERT and control SiRNA. The P38MAPK inhibitor abolished the TERT depletion induced COX2 elevation.

We also measured the telomere length and the results suggested that the TERT depletion induced overexpression of COX2 is telomere length independent.



Figure 6. Western blot which shows TERT inhibition to stimulate COX2 expression

4.2.2 TERT depletion synergizes with COX2 inhibition to exert anti-tumor effect in gastric cancer cells and mouse xenograft models

In previous reports, it has been shown that COX2 promotes cancer cell survival and proliferation¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁸. Thus, it is important to address whether the elevated COX2 expression attenuates, whereas COX2 inhibition promotes, the anticancer effect of TERT depletion. We transfected TERT specific siRNA into BGC-823 cells followed by their exposure to celecoxib, a specific COX2 inhibitor. Flow cytometry analysis showed apoptotic cell death in celecoxib and TERT siRNA exposed cells, while neither celecoxib exposure nor TERT siRNA transfection alone induced cell death. TERT depletion increased the sensitivity of cancer cells to celecoxib induced apoptosis.

To further investigate the in vivo recapitulation of the in vitro results obtained above wee injected nude mice with the TERT depleted and control BGC-823 cells. When analyzing the

tumors we could observe that both the control and the TERT depleted cells could generate comparable sized tumors in nude mice.

Then these mice were fed with celecoxib. The celecoxib could not reduce the tumor size from mice harboring BGC-823 cells with control shRNA. However, the tumors generated from the TERT depleted cells were smaller, suggesting the synergistic anti-tumor effect of TERT depletion and COX2 inhibition.

In summary, our study demonstrated that TERT depletion leads to activated phosph-p38 MAPK signaling, increases COX2 promoter activity and elevates the COX2 expression. We evaluated the anti-cancer effect of TERT depletion and COX2 inhibition separately and in combination both in vitro and in vivo. Knocking down TERT or COX2 inhibition alone could not lead to apoptosis in cultured gastric cancer cells while knocking down TERT in combination with celecoxib exposure retarded tumor growth in the mouse xenograft model, thus highlighting the clinical implications of TERT inhibitor in combination with COX2 inhibition in anti-tumor therapy.

4.3 PAPER Ⅲ: The FLT3 tyrosine kinase inhibitor PKC412 inhibits TERT expression in a MYC-dependent manner in AML cells and ectopic expression of TERT attenuates the TKI anti-tumor efficacy

4.3.1 The FLT3 TKI inhibits TERT promoter activity, decreases telomerase activity and attenuates TERT expression in a MYC-dependent manner.

PKC412 is a specific inhibitor of FLT3 tyrosine kinase that inhibits FLT3 phosphorylation and activation. As TERT plays important roles in carcinogenesis, our first question was what is the effect of FLT3 TKI on TERT expression. PKC412 exposure reduced the TERT mRNA expression at 0.1µM and almost complete abolishment of TERT mRNA was observed at 24h in Mv4,11 cells with FLT3-ITD+ phenotype. Similar results were observed in MOLM13 cells, another FLT3-ITD+ AML cell line. In contrast, the wild type FLT3.harboring AML cell line HL60 and the cervical cancer cell line HeLa manifest no alterations in TERT mRNA expression

levels following PKC412 exposure. In addition, exposure of PKC412 led to declined telomerase activity in Mv4,11 and MOLM13 cells.

Furthermore, we wanted to understand the mechanism behind the decline in TERT mRNA expression. A GFP expression vector driven by a TERT promoter was transfected into FLT-ITD cells, after PKC412 exposure the GFP signal faded to about 50% of the DMSO control, which indicates that the PKC412 may inhibit the TERT transcription and lower TERT mRNA expression.

Previous studies have demonstrated a key regulatory role of MYC on TERT expression and we further tested the involvement of MYC using the inhibitory effect of PKC412 on TERT expression. PKC412 exposure led to a robust decline in MYC mRNA and protein expression in FLT-ITD-carrying AML cell lines. To establish the causal link, we transfected the Mv4,11 cell line with the TERT core promoter harboring vector and the corresponding vector harboring TERT core promoter with a deletion in two MYC binding sites. These cells were then subjected to PKC412 treatment. PKC412 exposure led to a robust decline in TERT promoter activity, while this decline was abolished with the disruption of MYC binding sites. Thus, the above observations demonstrate the MYC dependency of TERT inhibition by TKI.

4.3.2 Ectopic expression of TERT activates alternative tyrosine kinase pathway, and abates PKC412 elicited apoptosis in a FLT-ITD+ AML cell line

Given the above observation, we would like to elucidate whether the ectopic expression of TERT could antagonize the anti-cancer effect of TKI. MOLM13 cells were infected with a lentiviral TERT expression vector and acquired a constitutive robust expression of TERT. After exposure to PKC412, MOLM13-TERT expressing cells exhibited a higher viability than control cells. In addition, flow cytometry analysis revealed attenuated apoptosis in MOLM13-TERT cells. Taken together, these results indicate that the ectopic expression of TERT abates the PKC12 elicited apoptosis in FLT-ITD+ AML cells.

We further explored the possible mechanism of ectopic TERT expression causing the decline in PKC412 induced apoptosis. Ectopic TERT expressing cells and control cells were exposed to PKC412 and subjected to microarray analysis. We found that the ectopic expression of TERT effectively influenced the FLT3 downstream effectors PI3K-AKT and RAS-MAPK, thereby antagonizing the PKC412 induced apoptosis (Figure 7).

In summary, we discovered that tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) reduced TERT expression and telomerase activity in a MYC-dependent manner. Ectopic expression of TERT could activate

an alternative tyrosine kinase pathway and circumvent the PKC412 elicited apoptotic anticancer effect.



Figure 7. Ectopic expression of TERT activates alternative tyrosine kinase pathways and circumvent the TKI blocking effect

4.4 PAPER IV: Bortezomib-induced downregulation of TERT and disruption of telomere homeostasis contribute to apoptosis of malignant cells

4.4.1 Bortezomib treatment leads to decline in TERT and TERC expression, disruption of shelterin protein expression, telomere shortening and telomere dysfunction

TERT and TERC constitute the core of telomerase holo-enzyme and previous studies have shown that bortezomib leads to decline in TERT and TERC expression in subset of myeloma cell lines¹⁶⁹. We raised the question whether this was also observed in other malignant cell lines.

We treated the gastric cancer cell line BGC-823 and leukemia HEL cell line with bortezomib and a sharp decline in TERT mRNA expression was observed at 48 hours. Telomerase activity also declined after bortezomib exposure.

As the shelterin protein complex functions essentially in telomere homeostasis, we explored the bortezomib effects on shelterin proteins. In HEL cells, exposure to bortezomib caused reduction in TRF1, TRF2, POT1, TPP1, RAP1 and TIN2 mRNA expression. The situation was slightly different in BGC-823 cells, where bortezomib exposure led to decrease in TRF1, TRF2, TPP1, POT1 mRNA expression but to enhancement of RAP1 and TIN2 expression.

We then analyzed the effect of bortezomib exposure on telomere length and telomere function. Flow FISH analysis revealed a significant decline in telomere length in bortezomib exposed AML and gastric cancer cells compared to DMSO controls. To illustrate the telomere dysfunction, we used co-localization of a very well established DNA damage marker and telomere in situ hybridization signal protein 53BP1. In summary, bortezomib treatment increased the frequency of telomere dysfunctional foci significantly.



Figure 8. Ectopic expression of TERT overcomes the bortezomib induced telomere dysfunction

4.4.2 Ectopic expression of TERT attenuates bortezomib-induced downregulation of TRF1, TRF2, TPP1 and RAP1, overcomes telomere dysfunction, reduces DNA damage and rescues cancer cells from apoptosis

Given the above described observations, we further explored whether ectopic expression of TERT is capable of preventing bortezomib induced telomere dysfunction. Lenti-viral TERT infected HEL and BGC-823 cells stably expressed a two-fold increase of TERT. After exposure to bortezomib, TERT expressing cells exhibited much less telomere dysfunction foci compared to control cells. The 53BP1 DNA damage foci also declined in TERT high expressing cells compared to control cells (Figure 8).

We further explored whether ectopic expression of TERT could antagonize the bortezomib elicited disruption of shelterin protein expression. In TERT high expressing cell lines, the TRF1, TRF2, RAP1 and TPP1 expression level remained essentially the same in both bortezomib treated and untreated cells, while POT1 expression still declined and TIN2 transcripts increased. We further investigated whether ectopic expression of TERT is able to attenuate bortezomib induced apoptosis. Both TERT high expressing and control cells were subjected to bortezomib exposure, both cell lines showed a decline in viability in a dose-dependent manner. However, more TERT high expressing cells survived compared to control cells. Flow cytometry analysis also revealed that higher percentages of control cells underwent apoptosis.

In summary, our study demonstrates that bortezomib treatment leads to a decline in TERT and TERC expression, disruption of shelterin protein expression, telomere shortening and telomere dysfunction while ectopic expression of TERT attenuates bortezomib induced down regulation of TRF1, TRF2, TPP1 and RAP1, overcomes telomere dysfunction, reduces DNA damage and rescues cancer cells from apoptosis.

5 CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVE

DNMTIs have been utilized clinically for therapy of hematological malignancies including AML but the mechanism of their anti-tumor activity remains to be explored. Bortezomib inhibits the ubiquitin/proteasome pathway and thereby exerts its anti-cancer effects, but the exact mechanisms remain to be clarified. In addition, the underlying mechanism of the clinically utilized TKIs could also be worth to look deeper into. Our study shows a significant impact of bortezomib and DNMTI on telomere homeostasis and function, which may contribute to bortezomib and DNMTI-mediated anti-tumor efficacy. In addition, here we demonstrated that DNMTI, bortezomib and TKI are capable of suppressing TERT expression and shortening telomeres thereby promoting apoptotic cell death of AML cells.

Recent studies revealed multiple biological activities of telomerase or TERT aside from the telomere lengthening function. For instance, TERT could facilitate the recruitment of DNA repair factors onto DNA double strand break sites, and depletion of TERT results in strengthened cell radiation-sensitivity, and declined efficacy for DNA repair. In accordance with these reports, we observed that ectopic expression of TERT attenuated DNA damage in bortezomib/DNMTI-treated malignant cells. DNA damage is required for bortezomib and DNMTI anti-cancer activity. Most likely apoptosis was attenuated in TERT over-expressed cells, when exposed to bortezomib or DNMTI. This attenuation may be due to the decreased DNA damage mediated by TERT

More importantly, our study revealed the interfering effect of TERT ectopic expression on clinically utilized anti-cancer drugs like DNMTI, TKI and bortezomib. High TERT expression could rescue cancer cells exposed to the above inhibitors, which also highlights the necessity of exploring TERT inhibitors in combination with these agents in clinical studies.

A deeper view of the molecular alterations and rewired regulatory signals induced by chemotherapeutic and other anti-cancer agents could be helpful in the future development of personalized/targeted anti-cancer treatment. Uncovering the underlying shared mechanisms of multidrug resistance and development of the corresponding inhibitors would greatly contribute to novel anti-cancer strategies in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I could feel exactly the fruitful harvest in my four years PhD study in Karolinska Institutet. I gratefully acknowledge all the people who have generously offered me help and accompanied me during these years.

My main supervisor, **Dawei Xu**. I am really appreciate your trust for my study, the freedom you offered which is very valuable for my exploration in research field. Thank you for your valuable guidance, advice and abundant help in my research and life, thank you for the endless support, trust, and encouragement you gave me. Your attitude to research, your diligence and your inspiring ideas impressed and will influence me a lot. I will consider you as the model in my future career.

My co-supervisor, **Magnus Björkholm**. Thank you for your series of support throughout 4 years of my PhD study, keeps me going through all the tough times, for providing us with a friendly work environment and the freedom I enjoyed in my work and ensures to complete my projects, for the wonderful discussions, meetings. I like your sense of humor.

My supervisors at Shandong University in China, **Leping Li** and **Jihui Jia**. Your always support me and treat me as your own kid. Thank you for your trust, encouragement and endless support during my study abroad, and thank you for the guidance leading me walk out of the darkness in life.

My metor, **Ida Nillson**. Thank you for your kind help for my life and research, for providing me valuable information as the guidance of my project. You are a warm lady, when we talk together, your smile always make me feel comfortable and encouraged.

All my co-authors, **Tiantian Liu, Xiuming Liang, Xinyu Ci, Xueping Ma, Feng Kong, Chengyun Zheng** and **Nick de Jonge**. Thank you all for the excellent collaboration to complete all the projects.

My colleagues and friends in hematology laboratory CMM, **Monica Ekberg**, you are a talented person, thank you for the interesting talk and sharing your knowledge of Swedish traditions, you are gifted and your talk always encourage me to conquer the difficulties I met, thank you for all your kind help; **Selina Parvin**, for your kind help in the lab, for the help with Swedish and for your sharing with us your delicious home-made cakes; **Meta Andersson**, for the interesting introduction of Swedish culture, your help with FACS facility and your warm huge to get rid of my sadness; **Anne-Marie Andersson**, for the nice talk, for your efforts to organize the lab and for the sharing of our cold office; **Göran Holm**, for your wise advice, for your

teaching me Swedish; **Jan Sjöberg**, for the nice day we shared in China, for your great help with the lentivirus technology, for your invitation and serve in your summer house; **Hans-Erik Claesson**, for all the wonderful discussions and for your introduction us to the magic world; **Ping Li**, **Hongya Han**, **Jenny Dahlström**, **Jingya Yu** and **Xiaotian Yuan**, for all of your accompany in my four-year PhD life.

My friends in CMM, Anna Fogdell Hahn, Anna Witasp, Anna-Lee Jansen, Annika Eriksson, Catharina Lavebratt, Christina Hermanrud, Elin Engdahl, Ida Nilsson, Ingegerd Lofving Arvholm, Karterina Fink, Katarina Gell, Malin Almgren, Malin Ryner, Sahl Khalid Bedri, Yabing Wei, for all the nice talks and discussions in the lunch room.

My teachers and friends at Shandong University, **Tao Huang**, **Yundong Sun**, **Han yu**, **Minran Zhou**, **Xiaoming Wang**, **Yue Fu** and **Xiangyu Wang**.

My friends in Xuanwu Hospital, **Zhiguo Chen, Shuyan Wang, Linlin Fu, Luo jie and Jianyu** Wu.

My friends at Karolinska Institute and Karolinska Hospital, **Qian Li**, **Wei Han, Yiqiao Wang**, **Yuanyuan Zhang**, **Xinyan Miao**, **Qing Wang**, **Na Wang**, **Shaohua Xu**, **Lidi Xu**, **Sun Chao** and **Ying Lei**, for all your generous help, the sharing of flight and hotel experience and for the Chinese hotspot and BBQ we enjoyed together, for the cars we repaired and maintenance, for the insurance we discussed; **Rong Yu**, **Qiang Zhang**, for inviting us for nice dinners and the car we repaired together; **Limin Ma**, for inviting me for dinner and sharing with me the delicious Swedish-style pasta; **Xia Jiang**, **Jian Zhu** and **Ting Zhuang**, for the nice chatting and walk during cancer retreat meeting every year, for the USMLE decision making with your help and your warm encouragement;

My dearest family, my father **Xichong Li**, my mother, **Lihua Sun**, you are my strongest backup, my grandparents. Thank you for your care and love to me.

My wife **Xiaolu Zhang**. Thank you for your understanding, endless love, support and encouragement.

The study was supported by the grants from the Adolf H. Lundin Charitable Foundation, the Swedish Cancer Society, the Swedish Research Council, Cancer Society in Stockholm, the Stockholm County Council and Karolinska Institutet, and the regional agreement on medical training and clinical research between Stockholm County Council and Karolinska Institutet. I would like to thank China Scholarship Council (CSC) for stipend support.

REFERENCES

- 1 Jabbour, E. J., Estey, E. & Kantarjian, H. M. Adult acute myeloid leukemia. *Mayo Clin Proc* **81**, 247-260, doi:10.4065/81.2.247 (2006).
- 2 Ferrara, F. & Schiffer, C. A. Acute myeloid leukaemia in adults. *Lancet* **381**, 484-495, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61727-9 (2013).
- Bennett, J. M. *et al.* Proposals for the classification of the acute leukaemias. French-American-British (FAB) co-operative group. *Br J Haematol* **33**, 451-458 (1976).
- 4 Vardiman, J. W., Harris, N. L. & Brunning, R. D. The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of the myeloid neoplasms. *Blood* **100**, 2292-2302, doi:10.1182/blood-2002-04-1199 (2002).
- 5 Cheson, B. D. *et al.* Revised recommendations of the International Working Group for Diagnosis, Standardization of Response Criteria, Treatment Outcomes, and Reporting Standards for Therapeutic Trials in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *J Clin Oncol* **21**, 4642-4649, doi:10.1200/JCO.2003.04.036 (2003).
- 6 McKenna, H. J. *et al.* Effects of flt3 ligand on acute myeloid and lymphocytic leukemic blast cells from children. *Exp Hematol* **24**, 378-385 (1996).
- 7 Nakao, M. *et al.* Internal tandem duplication of the flt3 gene found in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* **10**, 1911-1918 (1996).
- 8 Yokota, S. *et al.* Internal tandem duplication of the FLT3 gene is preferentially seen in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome among various hematological malignancies. A study on a large series of patients and cell lines. *Leukemia* **11**, 1605-1609 (1997).
- 9 Kiyoi, H. *et al.* Internal tandem duplication of the FLT3 gene is a novel modality of elongation mutation which causes constitutive activation of the product. *Leukemia* **12**, 1333-1337 (1998).
- 10 Kiyoi, H. *et al.* Prognostic implication of FLT3 and N-RAS gene mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* **93**, 3074-3080 (1999).
- 11 Kondo, M. *et al.* Prognostic value of internal tandem duplication of the FLT3 gene in childhood acute myelogenous leukemia. *Med Pediatr Oncol* **33**, 525-529 (1999).
- 12 Bortezomib-mediated disruption of telomere homeostasis/function contributes to apoptosis of malignant cells. *Oncotarget* (2015).
- 13 Hubbard, S. R. Juxtamembrane autoinhibition in receptor tyrosine kinases. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **5**, 464-471, doi:10.1038/nrm1399 (2004).
- 14 Yokota, S. & Kiyoi, H. [Internal tandem duplication in the juxtamembrane domain of the Flt3 gene found in leukemias]. *Rinsho Ketsueki* **39**, 83-85 (1998).
- 15 Iwai, T. *et al.* Internal tandem duplication of the FLT3 gene and clinical evaluation in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. The Children's Cancer and Leukemia Study Group, Japan. *Leukemia* **13**, 38-43 (1999).
- 16 Hovland, R., Gjertsen, B. T. & Bruserud, O. Acute myelogenous leukemia with internal tandem duplication of the Flt3 gene appearing or altering at the time of relapse: a report of two cases. *Leuk Lymphoma* 43, 2027-2029, doi:10.1080/1042819021000015989 (2002).
- 17 Liang, D. C. *et al.* Clinical relevance of internal tandem duplication of the FLT3 gene in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer* **94**, 3292-3298, doi:10.1002/cncr.10598 (2002).
- 18 Shih, L. Y. *et al.* Internal tandem duplication and Asp835 mutations of the FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3) gene in acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Cancer* **98**, 1206-1216, doi:10.1002/cncr.11636 (2003).

- 19 Callens, C. *et al.* Prognostic implication of FLT3 and Ras gene mutations in patients with acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL): a retrospective study from the European APL Group. *Leukemia* **19**, 1153-1160, doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403790 (2005).
- 20 Knapper, S. FLT3 inhibition in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* **138**, 687-699, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06700.x (2007).
- 21 Leung, A. Y., Man, C. H. & Kwong, Y. L. FLT3 inhibition: a moving and evolving target in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Leukemia* **27**, 260-268, doi:10.1038/leu.2012.195 (2013).
- 22 Kelly, L. M. *et al.* CT53518, a novel selective FLT3 antagonist for the treatment of acute myelogenous leukemia (AML). *Cancer Cell* **1**, 421-432 (2002).
- 23 Smith, B. D. *et al.* Single-agent CEP-701, a novel FLT3 inhibitor, shows biologic and clinical activity in patients with relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* **103**, 3669-3676, doi:10.1182/blood-2003-11-3775 (2004).
- 24 Meyer, T. *et al.* A derivative of staurosporine (CGP 41 251) shows selectivity for protein kinase C inhibition and in vitro anti-proliferative as well as in vivo anti-tumor activity. *Int J Cancer* **43**, 851-856 (1989).
- 25 Ravandi, F. *et al.* Phase I/II study of combination therapy with sorafenib, idarubicin, and cytarabine in younger patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *J Clin Oncol* **28**, 1856-1862, doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.25.4888 (2010).
- 26 Weisberg, E. *et al.* FLT3 inhibition and mechanisms of drug resistance in mutant FLT3positive AML. *Drug Resist Updat* **12**, 81-89, doi:10.1016/j.drup.2009.04.001 (2009).
- 27 Weisberg, E., Sattler, M., Ray, A. & Griffin, J. D. Drug resistance in mutant FLT3positive AML. *Oncogene* **29**, 5120-5134, doi:10.1038/onc.2010.273 (2010).
- 28 Kindler, T., Lipka, D. B. & Fischer, T. FLT3 as a therapeutic target in AML: still challenging after all these years. *Blood* **116**, 5089-5102, doi:10.1182/blood-2010-04-261867 (2010).
- 29 Griffith, J. D. *et al.* Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop. *Cell* **97**, 503-514 (1999).
- 30 de Lange, T. T-loops and the origin of telomeres. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **5**, 323-329, doi:10.1038/nrm1359 (2004).
- 31 Li, B., Oestreich, S. & de Lange, T. Identification of human Rap1: implications for telomere evolution. *Cell* **101**, 471-483 (2000).
- 32 Giraud-Panis, M. J. *et al.* One identity or more for telomeres? *Front Oncol* **3**, 48, doi:10.3389/fonc.2013.00048 (2013).
- 33 de Lange, T. Shelterin: the protein complex that shapes and safeguards human telomeres. *Genes Dev* **19**, 2100-2110, doi:10.1101/gad.1346005 (2005).
- 34 Maser, R. S. & DePinho, R. A. Connecting chromosomes, crisis, and cancer. *Science* **297**, 565-569, doi:10.1126/science.297.5581.565 (2002).
- 35 Verdun, R. E. & Karlseder, J. Replication and protection of telomeres. *Nature* **447**, 924-931, doi:10.1038/nature05976 (2007).
- 36 Fairall, L., Chapman, L., Moss, H., de Lange, T. & Rhodes, D. Structure of the TRFH dimerization domain of the human telomeric proteins TRF1 and TRF2. *Mol Cell* **8**, 351-361 (2001).
- 37 Court, R., Chapman, L., Fairall, L. & Rhodes, D. How the human telomeric proteins TRF1 and TRF2 recognize telomeric DNA: a view from high-resolution crystal structures. *EMBO Rep* **6**, 39-45, doi:10.1038/sj.embor.7400314 (2005).
- 38 Nishikawa, T. *et al.* Solution structure of a telomeric DNA complex of human TRF1. *Structure* **9**, 1237-1251 (2001).

- 39 Hanaoka, S., Nagadoi, A. & Nishimura, Y. Comparison between TRF2 and TRF1 of their telomeric DNA-bound structures and DNA-binding activities. *Protein Sci* **14**, 119-130, doi:10.1110/ps.04983705 (2005).
- 40 Wu, L. *et al.* Pot1 deficiency initiates DNA damage checkpoint activation and aberrant homologous recombination at telomeres. *Cell* **126**, 49-62, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.037 (2006).
- 41 Hockemeyer, D., Daniels, J. P., Takai, H. & de Lange, T. Recent expansion of the telomeric complex in rodents: Two distinct POT1 proteins protect mouse telomeres. *Cell* **126**, 63-77, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.04.044 (2006).
- 42 Lei, M., Podell, E. R. & Cech, T. R. Structure of human POT1 bound to telomeric single-stranded DNA provides a model for chromosome end-protection. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **11**, 1223-1229, doi:10.1038/nsmb867 (2004).
- 43 Loayza, D. & De Lange, T. POT1 as a terminal transducer of TRF1 telomere length control. *Nature* **423**, 1013-1018, doi:10.1038/nature01688 (2003).
- 44 Baumann, P., Podell, E. & Cech, T. R. Human Pot1 (protection of telomeres) protein: cytolocalization, gene structure, and alternative splicing. *Mol Cell Biol* **22**, 8079-8087 (2002).
- 45 Baumann, P. & Cech, T. R. Pot1, the putative telomere end-binding protein in fission yeast and humans. *Science* **292**, 1171-1175, doi:10.1126/science.1060036 (2001).
- 46 Wang, F. *et al.* The POT1-TPP1 telomere complex is a telomerase processivity factor. *Nature* **445**, 506-510, doi:10.1038/nature05454 (2007).
- 47 Wang, F. & Lei, M. Human telomere POT1-TPP1 complex and its role in telomerase activity regulation. *Methods Mol Biol* **735**, 173-187, doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-092-8_17 (2011).
- 48 Houghtaling, B. R., Cuttonaro, L., Chang, W. & Smith, S. A dynamic molecular link between the telomere length regulator TRF1 and the chromosome end protector TRF2. *Curr Biol* **14**, 1621-1631, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.08.052 (2004).
- 49 Ye, J. Z. *et al.* POT1-interacting protein PIP1: a telomere length regulator that recruits POT1 to the TIN2/TRF1 complex. *Genes Dev* **18**, 1649-1654, doi:10.1101/gad.1215404 (2004).
- 50 Ye, J. Z. *et al.* TIN2 binds TRF1 and TRF2 simultaneously and stabilizes the TRF2 complex on telomeres. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 47264-47271, doi:10.1074/jbc.M409047200 (2004).
- 51 Kim, S. H., Kaminker, P. & Campisi, J. TIN2, a new regulator of telomere length in human cells. *Nat Genet* **23**, 405-412, doi:10.1038/70508 (1999).
- 52 Kim, S. H. *et al.* TIN2 mediates functions of TRF2 at human telomeres. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 43799-43804, doi:10.1074/jbc.M408650200 (2004).
- 53 Nandakumar, J., Podell, E. R. & Cech, T. R. How telomeric protein POT1 avoids RNA to achieve specificity for single-stranded DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 651-656, doi:10.1073/pnas.0911099107 (2010).
- 54 Hayflick, L. & Moorhead, P. S. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. *Exp Cell Res* **25**, 585-621 (1961).
- 55 Wright, W. E. & Shay, J. W. The two-stage mechanism controlling cellular senescence and immortalization. *Exp Gerontol* **27**, 383-389 (1992).
- 56 Kamijo, T. *et al.* Tumor suppression at the mouse INK4a locus mediated by the alternative reading frame product p19ARF. *Cell* **91**, 649-659 (1997).
- 57 Sage, J., Miller, A. L., Perez-Mancera, P. A., Wysocki, J. M. & Jacks, T. Acute mutation of retinoblastoma gene function is sufficient for cell cycle re-entry. *Nature* **424**, 223-228, doi:10.1038/nature01764 (2003).

- Palm, W. & de Lange, T. How shelterin protects mammalian telomeres. *Annu Rev Genet*42, 301-334, doi:10.1146/annurev.genet.41.110306.130350 (2008).
- 59 d'Adda di Fagagna, F. *et al.* A DNA damage checkpoint response in telomere-initiated senescence. *Nature* **426**, 194-198, doi:10.1038/nature02118 (2003).
- 60 Yan, C. T. *et al.* IgH class switching and translocations use a robust non-classical endjoining pathway. *Nature* **449**, 478-482, doi:10.1038/nature06020 (2007).
- 61 Capper, R. *et al.* The nature of telomere fusion and a definition of the critical telomere length in human cells. *Genes Dev* **21**, 2495-2508, doi:10.1101/gad.439107 (2007).
- 62 Corneo, B. *et al.* Rag mutations reveal robust alternative end joining. *Nature* **449**, 483-486, doi:10.1038/nature06168 (2007).
- 63 Lingner, J. *et al.* Reverse transcriptase motifs in the catalytic subunit of telomerase. *Science* **276**, 561-567 (1997).
- 64 Meyerson, M. *et al.* hEST2, the putative human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, is up-regulated in tumor cells and during immortalization. *Cell* **90**, 785-795 (1997).
- 65 Podlevsky, J. D. & Chen, J. J. It all comes together at the ends: telomerase structure, function, and biogenesis. *Mutat Res* **730**, 3-11, doi:10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2011.11.002 (2012).
- 66 Masutomi, K. *et al.* Telomerase maintains telomere structure in normal human cells. *Cell* **114**, 241-253 (2003).
- 67 Wright, W. E., Piatyszek, M. A., Rainey, W. E., Byrd, W. & Shay, J. W. Telomerase activity in human germline and embryonic tissues and cells. *Dev Genet* **18**, 173-179, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1520-6408(1996)18:2<173::AID-DVG10>3.0.CO;2-3 (1996).
- 68 Nakamura, T. M. *et al.* Telomerase catalytic subunit homologs from fission yeast and human. *Science* **277**, 955-959 (1997).
- 69 Mitchell, M., Gillis, A., Futahashi, M., Fujiwara, H. & Skordalakes, E. Structural basis for telomerase catalytic subunit TERT binding to RNA template and telomeric DNA. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **17**, 513-518, doi:10.1038/nsmb.1777 (2010).
- 70 Moriarty, T. J., Ward, R. J., Taboski, M. A. & Autexier, C. An anchor site-type defect in human telomerase that disrupts telomere length maintenance and cellular immortalization. *Mol Biol Cell* **16**, 3152-3161, doi:10.1091/mbc.E05-02-0148 (2005).
- Lue, N. F. A physical and functional constituent of telomerase anchor site. *J Biol Chem* 280, 26586-26591, doi:10.1074/jbc.M503028200 (2005).
- 72 Greider, C. W. & Blackburn, E. H. A telomeric sequence in the RNA of Tetrahymena telomerase required for telomere repeat synthesis. *Nature* **337**, 331-337, doi:10.1038/337331a0 (1989).
- 73 Tzfati, Y., Fulton, T. B., Roy, J. & Blackburn, E. H. Template boundary in a yeast telomerase specified by RNA structure. *Science* **288**, 863-867 (2000).
- Box, J. A., Bunch, J. T., Zappulla, D. C., Glynn, E. F. & Baumann, P. A flexible template boundary element in the RNA subunit of fission yeast telomerase. *J Biol Chem* 283, 24224-24233, doi:10.1074/jbc.M802043200 (2008).
- 75 Chen, J. L. & Greider, C. W. Template boundary definition in mammalian telomerase. *Genes Dev* **17**, 2747-2752, doi:10.1101/gad.1140303 (2003).
- 76 Qiao, F. & Cech, T. R. Triple-helix structure in telomerase RNA contributes to catalysis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **15**, 634-640, doi:10.1038/nsmb.1420 (2008).
- 77 Shefer, K. *et al.* A triple helix within a pseudoknot is a conserved and essential element of telomerase RNA. *Mol Cell Biol* **27**, 2130-2143, doi:10.1128/MCB.01826-06 (2007).
- 78 Theimer, C. A., Blois, C. A. & Feigon, J. Structure of the human telomerase RNA pseudoknot reveals conserved tertiary interactions essential for function. *Mol Cell* **17**, 671-682, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2005.01.017 (2005).

- 79 Lai, C. K., Miller, M. C. & Collins, K. Roles for RNA in telomerase nucleotide and repeat addition processivity. *Mol Cell* **11**, 1673-1683 (2003).
- 80 Chen, J. L. & Greider, C. W. Determinants in mammalian telomerase RNA that mediate enzyme processivity and cross-species incompatibility. *EMBO J* 22, 304-314, doi:10.1093/emboj/cdg024 (2003).
- 81 Chen, J. L., Opperman, K. K. & Greider, C. W. A critical stem-loop structure in the CR4-CR5 domain of mammalian telomerase RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res* **30**, 592-597 (2002).
- 82 Mitchell, J. R. & Collins, K. Human telomerase activation requires two independent interactions between telomerase RNA and telomerase reverse transcriptase. *Mol Cell* **6**, 361-371 (2000).
- 83 Chen, J. L., Blasco, M. A. & Greider, C. W. Secondary structure of vertebrate telomerase RNA. *Cell* **100**, 503-514 (2000).
- 84 Mitchell, J. R., Wood, E. & Collins, K. A telomerase component is defective in the human disease dyskeratosis congenita. *Nature* **402**, 551-555, doi:10.1038/990141 (1999).
- 85 Egan, E. D. & Collins, K. Biogenesis of telomerase ribonucleoproteins. *RNA* **18**, 1747-1759, doi:10.1261/rna.034629.112 (2012).
- 86 Baerlocher, G. M. *et al.* Telomerase Inhibitor Imetelstat in Patients with Essential Thrombocythemia. *N Engl J Med* **373**, 920-928, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1503479 (2015).
- 87 Bird, A. DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. *Genes Dev* **16**, 6-21, doi:10.1101/gad.947102 (2002).
- 88 Herman, J. G. & Baylin, S. B. Gene silencing in cancer in association with promoter hypermethylation. *N Engl J Med* **349**, 2042-2054, doi:10.1056/NEJMra023075 (2003).
- ⁸⁹ Jones, P. A. & Baylin, S. B. The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. *Nat Rev Genet* **3**, 415-428, doi:10.1038/nrg816 (2002).
- 90 Weisenberger, D. J. *et al.* Analysis of repetitive element DNA methylation by MethyLight. *Nucleic Acids Res* **33**, 6823-6836, doi:10.1093/nar/gki987 (2005).
- 91 Feinberg, A. P., Gehrke, C. W., Kuo, K. C. & Ehrlich, M. Reduced genomic 5methylcytosine content in human colonic neoplasia. *Cancer Res* **48**, 1159-1161 (1988).
- 92 Gama-Sosa, M. A. *et al.* The 5-methylcytosine content of DNA from human tumors. *Nucleic Acids Res* **11**, 6883-6894 (1983).
- 93 Feinberg, A. P. & Vogelstein, B. Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. *Nature* **301**, 89-92 (1983).
- 94 Ehrlich, M. *et al.* Amount and distribution of 5-methylcytosine in human DNA from different types of tissues of cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* **10**, 2709-2721 (1982).
- 95 Diala, E. S. & Hoffman, R. M. DNA methylation levels in normal and chemicallytransformed mouse 3T3 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **104**, 1489-1494 (1982).
- Diala, E. S. & Hoffman, R. M. Hypomethylation of HeLa cell DNA and the absence of 5-methylcytosine in SV40 and adenovirus (type 2) DNA: analysis by HPLC. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 107, 19-26 (1982).
- 97 Ehrlich, M. & Wang, R. Y. 5-Methylcytosine in eukaryotic DNA. *Science* **212**, 1350-1357 (1981).
- 98 Lister, R. *et al.* Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. *Nature* **462**, 315-322, doi:10.1038/nature08514 (2009).
- 99 Hon, G. C. *et al.* Global DNA hypomethylation coupled to repressive chromatin domain formation and gene silencing in breast cancer. *Genome Res* **22**, 246-258, doi:10.1101/gr.125872.111 (2012).
- 100 Hansen, K. D. *et al.* Increased methylation variation in epigenetic domains across cancer types. *Nat Genet* **43**, 768-775, doi:10.1038/ng.865 (2011).

- 101 Berman, B. P. *et al.* Regions of focal DNA hypermethylation and long-range hypomethylation in colorectal cancer coincide with nuclear lamina-associated domains. *Nat Genet* **44**, 40-46, doi:10.1038/ng.969 (2012).
- 102 Baylin, S. B. DNA methylation and gene silencing in cancer. *Nat Clin Pract Oncol* **2 Suppl 1**, S4-11, doi:10.1038/ncponc0354 (2005).
- 103 Jones, P. A. & Baylin, S. B. The epigenomics of cancer. *Cell* **128**, 683-692, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.01.029 (2007).
- 104 Shen, H. & Laird, P. W. Interplay between the cancer genome and epigenome. *Cell* **153**, 38-55, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.008 (2013).
- 105 Hilton, J. L. *et al.* Inactivation of BRCA1 and BRCA2 in ovarian cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **94**, 1396-1406 (2002).
- 106 Herman, J. G., Graff, J. R., Myohanen, S., Nelkin, B. D. & Baylin, S. B. Methylationspecific PCR: a novel PCR assay for methylation status of CpG islands. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**, 9821-9826 (1996).
- 107 Suzuki, H. *et al.* Epigenetic inactivation of SFRP genes allows constitutive WNT signaling in colorectal cancer. *Nat Genet* **36**, 417-422, doi:10.1038/ng1330 (2004).
- 108 Galm, O., Herman, J. G. & Baylin, S. B. The fundamental role of epigenetics in hematopoietic malignancies. *Blood Rev* **20**, 1-13, doi:10.1016/j.blre.2005.01.006 (2006).
- 109 Ruter, B., Wijermans, P. W. & Lubbert, M. DNA methylation as a therapeutic target in hematologic disorders: recent results in older patients with myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia. *Int J Hematol* **80**, 128-135 (2004).
- 110 Daskalakis, M. *et al.* Demethylation of a hypermethylated P15/INK4B gene in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome by 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) treatment. *Blood* **100**, 2957-2964, doi:10.1182/blood.V100.8.2957 (2002).
- 111 Leone, G., Teofili, L., Voso, M. T. & Lubbert, M. DNA methylation and demethylating drugs in myelodysplastic syndromes and secondary leukemias. *Haematologica* **87**, 1324-1341 (2002).
- 112 Merlo, A. *et al.* 5' CpG island methylation is associated with transcriptional silencing of the tumour suppressor p16/CDKN2/MTS1 in human cancers. *Nat Med* **1**, 686-692 (1995).
- 113 Damaraju, V. L. *et al.* Role of human nucleoside transporters in the uptake and cytotoxicity of azacitidine and decitabine. *Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids* **31**, 236-255, doi:10.1080/15257770.2011.652330 (2012).
- 114 Zhou, L. *et al.* Zebularine: a novel DNA methylation inhibitor that forms a covalent complex with DNA methyltransferases. *J Mol Biol* **321**, 591-599 (2002).
- 115 Byun, H. M. *et al.* 2'-Deoxy-N4-[2-(4-nitrophenyl)ethoxycarbonyl]-5-azacytidine: a novel inhibitor of DNA methyltransferase that requires activation by human carboxylesterase 1. *Cancer Lett* **266**, 238-248, doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2008.02.069 (2008).
- 116 SILVERMAN LEWIS (US), H. S. U. AZACYTIDINE ANALOGUES AND USES THEREOF. (2009).
- 117 Brueckner, B. *et al.* Delivery of 5-azacytidine to human cancer cells by elaidic acid esterification increases therapeutic drug efficacy. *Mol Cancer Ther* **9**, 1256-1264, doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-1202 (2010).
- 118 Choi, W. J. *et al.* Fluorocyclopentenyl-cytosine with broad spectrum and potent antitumor activity. *J Med Chem* **55**, 4521-4525, doi:10.1021/jm3004009 (2012).
- 119 Ahn, C. H. B. C., Potomac, Maryland, 20854, US), Choi, Won J. (1410 Baker Place West #33, Frederick, Maryland, 21702, US), Lee, Young B. (220 Redland Boulevard, Rockville, Maryland, 20850, US), Jeong, Lak S. (Ewha Womans University, 11-1 Daehyun-dong Seodaemun-Gu, Seoul 120-750, KR), Lee, Sang K. (Ewha Womans

University, 11-1 Daehyun-dong Seodaemun-Gu, Seoul 120-750, KR). NUCLEOSIDE DERIVATIVES AND THERAPEUTIC USE THEREOF. (2005).

- 120 Peters, G. J. *et al.* Metabolism, mechanism of action and sensitivity profile of fluorocyclopentenylcytosine (RX-3117; TV-1360). *Invest New Drugs* **31**, 1444-1457, doi:10.1007/s10637-013-0025-x (2013).
- 121 Wijermans, P. *et al.* Low-dose 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine, a DNA hypomethylating agent, for the treatment of high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome: a multicenter phase II study in elderly patients. *J Clin Oncol* **18**, 956-962 (2000).
- 122 Chen, Z. J. Ubiquitin signalling in the NF-kappaB pathway. *Nat Cell Biol* **7**, 758-765, doi:10.1038/ncb0805-758 (2005).
- 123 Reed, S. I. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in cell cycle control. *Results Probl Cell Differ* **42**, 147-181 (2006).
- 124 Huen, M. S. & Chen, J. The DNA damage response pathways: at the crossroad of protein modifications. *Cell Res* **18**, 8-16, doi:10.1038/cr.2007.109 (2008).
- 125 Sun, L. & Chen, Z. J. The novel functions of ubiquitination in signaling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **16**, 119-126, doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2004.02.005 (2004).
- 126 Kodadek, T., Sikder, D. & Nalley, K. Keeping transcriptional activators under control. *Cell* **127**, 261-264, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.002 (2006).
- 127 Adams, J. The development of proteasome inhibitors as anticancer drugs. *Cancer Cell* 5, 417-421 (2004).
- 128 Burger, A. M. & Seth, A. K. The ubiquitin-mediated protein degradation pathway in cancer: therapeutic implications. *Eur J Cancer* **40**, 2217-2229, doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2004.07.006 (2004).
- 129 Orlowski, R. Z. *et al.* Phase I trial of the proteasome inhibitor PS-341 in patients with refractory hematologic malignancies. *J Clin Oncol* **20**, 4420-4427 (2002).
- 130 Richardson, P. G. *et al.* A phase 2 study of bortezomib in relapsed, refractory myeloma. *N Engl J Med* **348**, 2609-2617, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa030288 (2003).
- 131 Richardson, P. G. *et al.* Bortezomib or high-dose dexamethasone for relapsed multiple myeloma. *N Engl J Med* **352**, 2487-2498, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa043445 (2005).
- 132 Nalepa, G. & Wade Harper, J. Therapeutic anti-cancer targets upstream of the proteasome. *Cancer Treat Rev* **29 Suppl 1**, 49-57 (2003).
- 133 Ma, M. H. *et al.* The proteasome inhibitor PS-341 markedly enhances sensitivity of multiple myeloma tumor cells to chemotherapeutic agents. *Clin Cancer Res* **9**, 1136-1144 (2003).
- 134 Funk, C. D. Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. *Science* **294**, 1871-1875, doi:10.1126/science.294.5548.1871 (2001).
- 135 Yokoyama, C., Takai, T. & Tanabe, T. Primary structure of sheep prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase deduced from cDNA sequence. *FEBS Lett* **231**, 347-351 (1988).
- 136 Xie, W. L., Chipman, J. G., Robertson, D. L., Erikson, R. L. & Simmons, D. L. Expression of a mitogen-responsive gene encoding prostaglandin synthase is regulated by mRNA splicing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **88**, 2692-2696 (1991).
- 137 Svensson, C. I. & Yaksh, T. L. The spinal phospholipase-cyclooxygenase-prostanoid cascade in nociceptive processing. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **42**, 553-583, doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.42.092401.143905 (2002).
- 138 Adegboyega, P. A. & Ololade, O. Immunohistochemical expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in normal kidneys. *Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol* **12**, 71-74 (2004).
- 139 Tessner, T. G., Muhale, F., Riehl, T. E., Anant, S. & Stenson, W. F. Prostaglandin E2 reduces radiation-induced epithelial apoptosis through a mechanism involving AKT activation and bax translocation. *J Clin Invest* **114**, 1676-1685, doi:10.1172/JCI22218 (2004).

- 140 Sheng, H., Shao, J., Washington, M. K. & DuBois, R. N. Prostaglandin E2 increases growth and motility of colorectal carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 18075-18081, doi:10.1074/jbc.M009689200 (2001).
- 141 Pozzi, A. *et al.* Colon carcinoma cell growth is associated with prostaglandin E2/EP4 receptor-evoked ERK activation. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 29797-29804, doi:10.1074/jbc.M313989200 (2004).
- 142 Leone, V. *et al.* PGE2 inhibits apoptosis in human adenocarcinoma Caco-2 cell line through Ras-PI3K association and cAMP-dependent kinase A activation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **293**, G673-681, doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00584.2006 (2007).
- 143 Pai, R. *et al.* Prostaglandin E2 transactivates EGF receptor: a novel mechanism for promoting colon cancer growth and gastrointestinal hypertrophy. *Nat Med* **8**, 289-293, doi:10.1038/nm0302-289 (2002).
- 144 Buchanan, F. G., Wang, D., Bargiacchi, F. & DuBois, R. N. Prostaglandin E2 regulates cell migration via the intracellular activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 278, 35451-35457, doi:10.1074/jbc.M302474200 (2003).
- 145 Kaidi, A., Qualtrough, D., Williams, A. C. & Paraskeva, C. Direct transcriptional upregulation of cyclooxygenase-2 by hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 promotes colorectal tumor cell survival and enhances HIF-1 transcriptional activity during hypoxia. *Cancer Res* **66**, 6683-6691, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0425 (2006).
- 146 Hawcroft, G., Ko, C. W. & Hull, M. A. Prostaglandin E2-EP4 receptor signalling promotes tumorigenic behaviour of HT-29 human colorectal cancer cells. *Oncogene* **26**, 3006-3019, doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210113 (2007).
- 147 Flower, R. J. The development of COX2 inhibitors. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **2**, 179-191, doi:10.1038/nrd1034 (2003).
- 148 FitzGerald, G. A. COX-2 and beyond: Approaches to prostaglandin inhibition in human disease. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **2**, 879-890, doi:10.1038/nrd1225 (2003).
- 149 Gupta, R. A. & Dubois, R. N. Colorectal cancer prevention and treatment by inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2. *Nat Rev Cancer* **1**, 11-21, doi:10.1038/35094017 (2001).
- 150 Pang, R. P. *et al.* Celecoxib induces apoptosis in COX-2 deficient human gastric cancer cells through Akt/GSK3beta/NAG-1 pathway. *Cancer Lett* **251**, 268-277, doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2006.11.032 (2007).
- 151 Hu, P. J. *et al.* Chemoprevention of gastric cancer by celecoxib in rats. *Gut* **53**, 195-200 (2004).
- 152 Chalmers, C. R. *et al.* Antiangiogenic activity of the selective cyclooxygenase 2 inhibitor rofecoxib in human colorectal cancer liver metastases. *Gut* **55**, 1058-1059, doi:10.1136/gut.2005.090571 (2006).
- 153 Gridelli, C. *et al.* Factorial phase III randomised trial of rofecoxib and prolonged constant infusion of gemcitabine in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: the GEmcitabine-COxib in NSCLC (GECO) study. *Lancet Oncol* **8**, 500-512, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(07)70146-8 (2007).
- 154 Midgley, R. S. *et al.* Phase III randomized trial assessing rofecoxib in the adjuvant setting of colorectal cancer: final results of the VICTOR trial. *J Clin Oncol* **28**, 4575-4580, doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.29.6244 (2010).
- 155 Evans, J. F. Rofecoxib (Vioxx), a specific cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, is chemopreventive in a mouse model of colon cancer. *Am J Clin Oncol* **26**, S62-65, doi:10.1097/01.COC.0000074159.05087.50 (2003).
- 156 Palii, S. S., Van Emburgh, B. O., Sankpal, U. T., Brown, K. D. & Robertson, K. D. DNA methylation inhibitor 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine induces reversible genome-wide DNA damage that is distinctly influenced by DNA methyltransferases 1 and 3B. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 752-771, doi:10.1128/MCB.01799-07 (2008).

- 157 Jiemjit, A. *et al.* p21(WAF1/CIP1) induction by 5-azacytosine nucleosides requires DNA damage. *Oncogene* **27**, 3615-3623, doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1211018 (2008).
- 158 Schieven, G. L. The p38alpha kinase plays a central role in inflammation. *Curr Top Med Chem* **9**, 1038-1048 (2009).
- 159 Sun, H., Xu, B., Inoue, H. & Chen, Q. M. P38 MAPK mediates COX-2 gene expression by corticosterone in cardiomyocytes. *Cell Signal* 20, 1952-1959, doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2008.07.003 (2008).
- 160 Tenhunen, O. *et al.* Identification of cell cycle regulatory and inflammatory genes as predominant targets of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in the heart. *Circ Res* **99**, 485-493, doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000238387.85144.92 (2006).
- 161 Regalo, G. *et al.* C/EBPbeta is over-expressed in gastric carcinogenesis and is associated with COX-2 expression. *J Pathol* **210**, 398-404, doi:10.1002/path.2063 (2006).
- 162 Gauthier, M. L. *et al.* p38 regulates cyclooxygenase-2 in human mammary epithelial cells and is activated in premalignant tissue. *Cancer Res* **65**, 1792-1799, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3507 (2005).
- 163 Subbaramaiah, K., Chung, W. J. & Dannenberg, A. J. Ceramide regulates the transcription of cyclooxygenase-2. Evidence for involvement of extracellular signal-regulated kinase/c-Jun N-terminal kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 32943-32949 (1998).
- 164 Chung, L. Y. *et al.* Galectin-1 promotes lung cancer progression and chemoresistance by upregulating p38 MAPK, ERK, and cyclooxygenase-2. *Clin Cancer Res* **18**, 4037-4047, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3348 (2012).
- 165 Khan, Z. *et al.* Biology of Cox-2: an application in cancer therapeutics. *Curr Drug Targets* **12**, 1082-1093 (2011).
- 166 Wu, W. K., Sung, J. J., Lee, C. W., Yu, J. & Cho, C. H. Cyclooxygenase-2 in tumorigenesis of gastrointestinal cancers: an update on the molecular mechanisms. *Cancer Lett* **295**, 7-16, doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2010.03.015 (2010).
- 167 Sobolewski, C., Cerella, C., Dicato, M., Ghibelli, L. & Diederich, M. The role of cyclooxygenase-2 in cell proliferation and cell death in human malignancies. *Int J Cell Biol* 2010, 215158, doi:10.1155/2010/215158 (2010).
- 168 Wang, D. & Dubois, R. N. Cyclooxygenase-2: a potential target in breast cancer. *Semin Oncol* **31**, 64-73 (2004).
- 169 Weiss, C. *et al.* Differential downregulation of telomerase activity by bortezomib in multiple myeloma cells-multiple regulatory pathways in vitro and ex vivo. *Br J Cancer* 107, 1844-1852, doi:10.1038/bjc.2012.460 (2012).